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OPPORTUNITIES

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Brightstar
Technology Group Co., Ltd (formerly known as In Technical Productions
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”). The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best
of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To the shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Brightstar
Technology Group Co., Limited (formerly known as In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited) (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Leveraging on years of experience and
competitive strengths of the Group, including being the leading visual
display solution provider for pop concerts in Hong Kong, having strong
capabilities for providing customised visual display solutions and in-house
repair and technical support, large quantity and wide range of visual
display equipment; and having experienced management and technical
staff with strong know-how and expertise, the management team of the
Group has effectively expanded the Group’s customer base and
maintained a rapid growth in terms of overall sales. The Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$95.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of approximately HK$55.4
million or 137.8% as compared with the period from 1 June 2022 to 31
December 2022. The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 increased by approximately 141.7% to approximately
HK$26.6 million from HK$11.0 million for the period from 1 June 2022
to 31 December 2022. However, as the revenue for the year was
insufficient to cover the relatively high cost of services and administrative
expenses (including the high equipment depreciation cost), the Group
incurred a loss of approximately HK$27.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared with a profit of approximately HK$7.5
million for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022.

The Board will proactively seek potential business opportunities and
explore the possibility to expand the application of the Group’s visual
display solutions to industries other than live events industry so as to
broaden the sources of income of the Group and enhance shareholders
value.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FERETE(E

Looking forward, the Group will make steady progress in accordance with & 2 K 5K - 2N &£ E # 4k B BT F 51 21 12 4 51
its plans and strive for effective implementation of the business objectives ¥+ HSR AW EE AR EEE K B EX #
of the Group and benefit from it. B o

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of 2 % & 2 It | D K A A 7 & AN &= E %
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their = - 2B B HE LKL EPLPH AEB N R H X
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this #f- REBE IE LB S HHFL2EEEAER
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard NEB TZFREHTIERZ LT -

work and dedication throughout the year.

Cui Hai Bin T
Chairman E8E
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024 B —T-_WMF=A=++tH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

Following the change of the Company’s financial year end date from 31
May to 31 December, the current financial year covers a twelve-month
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 while the comparison
period covers a seven-month period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December
2022. The comparative amounts are therefore not entirely comparable.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (1) the provision of visual display
solution service for concerts and events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau
and the People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan for the purpose of this annual report, the “PRC"), (2) the
provision of information technology consulting services in the PRC and (3)
the provision of hotel reservation and convention planning services in the
PRC.

Visual display solutions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was engaged in
516 pop concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong Kong artists/bands
(seven months ended 31 December 2022: 154).

The Group derived approximately 84.28% of its total revenue during the
year ended 31 December 2023 from pop concerts (seven months ended
31 December 2022: 34.3%), the majority of which took place in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The remainder of the Group’s revenue of visual
display solutions business was attributable to other live events, including
corporate events, exhibitions, sports and recreational events and other
live performances, as well as equipment rental.

Information technology consulting

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue generated from
the provision of information technology consulting services amounted to
approximately HK$2.5 million (representing 2.6% of the total revenue)
(seven months ended 31 December 2022: 48.4%) which was mainly
contributed by an information technology project of customers in the
PRC.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Hotel reservation and convention planning

In March 2023, the Group started hotel reservation and convention
planning services. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
generated from the provision of hotel reservation and convention
planning services amounted to approximately HK$2.4 million (representing
2.5% of the total revenue) (seven months ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group faced the following
risks and uncertainties that might have affected the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group's operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the respective risk
management measures are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the Group’s
ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual display
technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-effective
visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group’s executive
directors and senior management are responsible for assessing the
change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable visual
display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

The business opportunities arise from the market demand for new
technologies. The Group will keep to explore the new technologies to
extend its existing visual display business.
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Iwanagewmnttﬁx15ﬂonENKiAnawgs(Conﬂnued)

B E & Mo (88)

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect the
Group's computer equipment and website from any unauthorized access
can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group’s computer equipment and website from any
cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to follow
a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of any
unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group'’s critical information is kept and managed by the Group’s
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial loss
and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group’s critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 40 to 62 of this annual report.

Market risk

The Group's business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in the PRC including Hong Kong. The
economy of the PRC is susceptible to material fluctuations, volatility,
disruptions or downturn of broader global economic and financial
environment. The Group’s executive directors are responsible for
determining an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and
assessing market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any
adverse factors affecting the Group's performance and market position.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group has generated revenue from providing (i) visual display
solutions to its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various
other live events; (ii) information technology consulting services; (iii) hotel
reservation and convention planning services; and (iv) equipment rental.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by
source of income during the year ended 31 December 2023 with the
comparative figures for the seven months ended 31 December 2022:

BEE W Lo (8)

Bt %5 [0 R

iy £

AEBEBEEREHEUTREELE RS ()A
ERFREHERTEREEELZEHEME
LRSHBENREERRERT R ()&
R B wE AR TS ¢ (i) B JE TR AT M2 & R 8 R
% R(vREBHEHE -

TRENAEBHEEZ_FT_=F+= A
= +t—HIEFERBARIRE S KUK EH
WEREBEEZ_FTE-_—_F+-_H=+T—H1+t
& A &t R B

Year ended Seven months ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
BE-ZT=-=F BHE_T__
+ZA=+—HILEEE +=—R=+—HB1tEA
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
1 48 W 3= 1k 485 7%
F#E T B 7 (%) FAET B 7 (%)
Visual display solutions WEBRRERT R 90,751 94.8 20,353 50.6
Information technology BB
consulting 2,479 2.6 19,466 48.4
Hotel reservation and convention ;B [E T8 5] 2 & % 1R 2|
planning 2,353 2.5 — —
Equipment rental HEBEHE 85 0.1 419 1.0
Total Bt 95,668 100.0 40,238 100.0

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group principally derived
its revenue from the provision of visual display solutions, the provision of
information technology consulting services and the provision of hotel
reservation and convention planning services, accounted for 94.8% (seven
months ended 31 December 2022: approximately 50.6%), 2.6% (seven
months ended 31 December 2022: 48.4%) and 2.5% of the Group's
total revenue (seven months ended 31 December 2022: Nil) respectively.
The Group's revenue increased by approximately 137.8% from
approximately HK$40.2 million for the seven months ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$95.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2023.

BE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HLEE"
AEERETERBRBEREGETERS
X OREBEARBEAZARSE U RREREBE
A RSZAIRE DAL ASEERYK
HHWMU8% (EHE T -_—F+_-_A=+—
HiIE+ @A : 4506%)  26%(FE_-F
——F+-_AZ=Z+—HBLt@EA :484%)
B25%(HBE-—E-_—&E+=-_RA=+—H1
+t@EA & AEEUREHEE_T ==
F+_A=+—HLEEt@AKNIW2EES
TCIE M 137 8% EHE—_T _=F+_H
=t+—BHILFEHBTIEEST -

REMEEERONOERLR —Z2-=F5FRK

09



10

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E & Mo (88)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the year ended 31 December 2023 with
the comparative figures for the seven months ended 31 December 2022.
For the purpose of revenue breakdown presentation, other live events
include corporate events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions and
other live performances.

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_E-_=f+-HA=T-HLEE

BEBETRBRATR

TREBWNAEBEZ_ZFT_=F+=A
T+ —HLEFEREBGETSBRIRN
WA rREE "S- F+t=-A=+—
Eitﬂﬂ%%ﬁ%% 2% e %5 B8 48
CHMIRIG RS EELEIES
%%é@ RE M&EME%%@O

Seven months ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_—f+-A=1+—RHLttMEA

% of total % of total
revenue  Average revenue  Average
from visual  revenue from visual revenue
No.of Revenue display pershow  No.of  Revenue display  per show
shows (HK$'000) solutions (HKS$'000)  shows (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)
HEGER EREER
BARTRE BHEN BAAER B§HEH
& ks WHEBEIHE TIHhE e W RaEaat FHRE
B (T#x) (%) (F#&x) g8 (FEL) (%) (F&ET)
Pop concerts MOBLEES 516 80,631 88.8 156 154 13,808 67.8 90
Other live events  E {35 35 & &) 517 10,120 11.2 20 876 6,545 32.2 7
Total revenue from 15 (& B R 2 &
visual display GES L€
solutions 1,033 90,751 100.0 88 1,030 20,353 100.0 20
The increase in revenue from pop concerts was mainly attributable to the R B RIT S M BEES MUz IN T EH

effect of (i) the increase in the number of pop concert shows undertaken
by the Group from 154 for the seven months ended 31 December 2022
to 516 for the year ended 31 December 2023; and (ii) the increase in the
average revenue per show for pop concerts from approximately
HK$90,000 for the seven months ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$156,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Despite the decrease in the number of other live events undertaken by
the Group from 876 for the seven months ended 31 December 2022 to
517 for the year ended 31 December 2023, the increase in revenue from
other live events was mainly attributable to the increase in the average
revenue per show for other live events from approximately HK$7,000 for
the seven months ended 31 December 2022 to HK$20,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

&2 E & i RS (M)

Revenue analysis by geographical location BB NEE DKW E DN

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group T[X&H¥EHEE-_ZT-_=F+=-_A=+—H
from pop concerts by geographical location during the year ended 31 ¢$ﬁ$%l&i@ﬁu§%ﬁﬁ TE%E

December 2023 with comparative figures for the seven months ended 31 ek AaARBEE T _—F+—- A
December 2022: _-I— HIEE@EAMLERET
Year ended 31 December 2023 Seven months ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_=f+-A=+-ALEE BE-_T-_—_F#+-_A=t+-HBI+t@EA
% of total ~ Average % of total Average
revenue  revenue revenue revenue
No.of  Revenue frompop pershow  No. of Revenue frompop  per show
shows  (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)  shows  (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)
ERTES ERITE%
MFQ% BH5EL ERE @ 5B
B ki WHEED W B s UmEED FHME
g8 (¥#xn) (%) (FEr) g8 (FAx) (%) (FAT)
Pop concerts ROERERES
Hong Kong BB 223 29,619 36.7 133 129 10,659 712 83
PRC i E 184 30,017 37.2 163 15 51 0.4 3
Macau R 83 17,111 22,0 213 1 41 03 41
Others Hi 26 3,284 4.1 126 9 3,057 22.1 340
Total revenue from  RTE%EEE
pop concerts Al 516 80,631 100.0 156 154 13,808 100.0 90

RENEEERONERLR —ZT-=FFRK 1



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE N W Lo (8)

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group TXR&EHIHZ2_E_=F+_F=+—H
from other live events by geographical location during the year ended 31  |F EE A& FE IR IE 7 B 2l H E I8 3555

December 2023 with comparative figures for the seven months ended 31 & W W FBP AL E ST __F+ = A
December 2022: =t+—HIEtEANERETF:
Year ended 31 December 2023 Seven months ended 31 December 2022

BE-E-=F+-A=+-HLEE BE-_T-__F#+_A=+t-HBI+H@EA
% of total ~ Average % of total Average
revenue  revenue revenue revenue
No.of Revenue  fromother pershow  No.of Revenue from other  per show
shows (HK$'000)  liveevents (HK$'000)  shows  (HK$'000) live events  (HK$'000)

EHMRS HE MRS

EBE  BBEY EEE B5EN
B kiE WweEEsk THkE B Wz WEBEsL  FHkE
g8 (F#x%) (%) (F#Ex) B (TR (%) (FET)

Other live events H B 15 EH

Hong Kong ) 430 7,795 77.0 18 717 5,817 83.8
PRC i 46 272 2.7 6 120 510 7.8
Macau R 41 2,053 203 50 38 154 2.4 4
Others Hith - - — — 1 64 1.0 64

Total revenue from  E 135 35 75 &)
other live events el 517 10,120 100.0 20 876 6,545 100.0 7

Information technology consulting BARREER

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of provision of #HE-—TE-=F+-A=+—HILFE -
information technology consulting services amounted to approximately 12 AR ZABRBOWERL AB2588
HK$2.5 million (representing 2.6% of the total revenue) (seven months 3 7T ({548 Wk 25 892.6%) (B & — & — —
ended 31 December 2022: 48.4%) which was mainly contributed by + A=+ —BIF+ @A :484%) &
information technology project of customers in the PRC. FEFREEFNEARKIEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Hotel reservation and convention planning

In March 2023, the Group started hotel reservation and convention
planning services. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
of provision of hotel reservation and convention planning services
amounted to approximately HK$2.4 million (representing 2.5% of the
total revenue) (seven months ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

Cost of services

The cost of services of the Group mainly include depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, direct labour costs, subcontracting charges, freight
and logistics expenses, cost of equipment and spare parts and rental
expenses related to lease of equipment. The Group's cost of services
increased by approximately 136% from approximately HK$29.2 million
for the seven months ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$69.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase
was mainly due to the increase of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment as a longer accounting period is used for the current period
compared with the last period.

Gross profit/(loss) and gross profit/(loss) margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately HK$26.6 million (seven months ended 31
December 2022: gross profit of approximately HK$11.0 million),
representing a gross profit margin of approximately 27.8% (seven months
ended 31 December 2022: gross profit margin of approximately 27.3%).
The increase in gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the increase
in revenue.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental expenses of short-
term leases in respect of rental premises and others. The Group’s
administrative expenses increased by approximately 240.7% from
approximately HK$15.0 million for the seven months ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$51.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. Such increase was mainly due to a longer accounting period is used
for the current period compared with the last period, the increase in
administrative expenses incurred for management of different segments
of business and the increase in administrative expenses incurred for hotel
reservation and convention planning business since March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E & Mo (88)

Finance costs, net

The net finance cost of the Group mainly consists of interests on bank
borrowings which were all repayable within five years, interest expenses
on obligations under finance lease and interest on lease liabilities. The
Group's finance costs increased by approximately 79.5% from HK$0.4
million for the seven months ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$0.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 which was mainly
due to a longer accounting period is used for the current period
compared with the last period.

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and the seven months ended
31 December 2022, all PRC subsidiaries of the Company were subject to
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25.0%.

Pursuant to the enactment of the two-tiered profit tax rates issued by the
Inland Revenue Department (“IRD"”) from the year of assessment 2018/19
onwards, the Group's first HK$2 million of assessable profits under Hong
Kong profits tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 is subject to a tax
rate of 8.25%, while the remaining assessable profits are subject to a tax
rate of 16.5%. During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not generate any
estimated assessable profit (seven months ended 31 December 2022:
same).

The Macau subsidiary of the Company was subject to Macau
complementary tax at the rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable
income exceeding MOP600,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023 and the seven months ended 31 December 2022.

Our income tax expenses changed from approximately HK$0.1 million of
income tax expenses for the seven months ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$0.6 million of income tax expenses for the year ended
31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(Loss)/Profit for the year/period

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss was approximately HK$27.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared with a profit
of approximately HK$7.5 million for the seven months ended 31
December 2022. The main reason for the loss is because the revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was not able to cover the relatively
high cost of services and administrative expenses (including the high
equipment depreciation cost). Although the revenue for the year ended
31 December 2023 has increased by HK$55.4 million compared with the
seven months ended 31 December 2022, the increment was still not able
to compensate the cost of services and administrative expenses during
the year.

Business Update

Even though the global economy is still facing various challenges brought
by the high inflationary pressure and soaring interest rates, with the
strong support of the PRC government in unleashing the consumption
potential, the Group anticipated that the economy in the PRC, including
Hong Kong and Macau, will accelerate its growth in 2024.

The Group anticipated that the prospects for the Group’s video display
solutions business will become more promising in 2024 due to the
improved macroeconomic atmosphere and market conditions coupled
with the increase in clients’ production budgets. Due to the development
of the mass media and entertainment market, a greater variety of styles
of performing arts are introduced to the audience, especially in the PRC
and the number of artists who can organize concert tours with more
number of shows is increasing. This will bring renewed impetus for
growth to the Group’s video display solutions business.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management explored
more business opportunities to diversify the business of the Group. In
March 2023, the Group started providing hotel reservation and
convention planning services. The management believes that the Group’s
business is developing on the right track, and will experience explosive
growth in the near future.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B IR &l wm Mo AT (48)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowing, overdrafts and
finance leases. The Group recorded net current assets of approximately
HK$106.2 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: net
current assets of approximately HK$120.6 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current ratio was approximately 1.98
(31 December 2022: approximately 2.14) and the Group's gearing ratio
calculated based on the total debt (including shareholder’s loans) at the
end of the year divided by total equity at the end of the year was
approximately 18.0% (31 December 2022: approximately 23.5%). The
decrease of the Group’s gearing ratio during the year ended 31 December
2023 was mainly due to the increase in total equity.

As at 31 December 2023, the maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to HK$13 million (31 December 2022:
HK$13 million). The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, repayable within one year or on demand and interest-bearing at
floating rates from 3.5% to 7.7% per annum (31 December 2022: 3.4%
to 6.6% per annum).

As at 31 December 2023, the capital structure of the Group consisted of
equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$131.6
million, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
13,157,894 subscription shares and 74,000 remuneration shares were
allotted and issued to ST MA LTD and Rainbow Capital (HK) Limited
respectively, at the subscription price of HK$7.60 per share on 8 May
2023. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 12 December 2020, 8 February 2023, 31 March 2023, 20 April
2023 and 8 May 2023, and the circular of the Company dated 17 January
2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in the PRC including Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to certain purchases with United States dollars (“US$")
and Macau Patacas (“MOP"). Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is not the group entities’ functional currency. The
Group however did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not
commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 December 2023.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group
strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group'’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from
time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 23 May 2023, Guangzhou Yiciyuan Technology Company Limited* (&
MEXRTTREEAR2AE]), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as the purchaser) and Guangzhou Lingjing Smart Technology
Company Limited* (M &R Z2RHEHRRAFR]) (as the vendor) entered
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the purchaser has
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the vendor has conditionally agreed
to sell 10% of the registered capital of Shenzhen Evolution Equation
Technology Company Limited* (RYITT#ALTREEHXBRAR) at a
consideration of RMB50,000,000 in cash. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2023.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group did not have any significant investments, material acquisitions nor
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE N W Lo (8)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT EXEAERIAREE
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitment of R-E-_=F+_-_A=+—H ' AE£EH
approximately HK$11,035,000 (31 December 2022: nil). B AREYEH A11,0350008 (==
TZA=+—H:8\)-

DIVIDEND [

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year E=E=e@ EZRNEHE T =+ A
ended 31 December 2023. =T —HALEFEARE -

PLEDGE OF ASSETS EEEH

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any pledged short-term SR - —-—=#+4+ - A=+—H ' K&EEW
bank deposits as security for the Group’s banking facilities (31 December 4K IR(F A5 HIR 1T 7 X * fE B AN & HE

2022: Nil). TRENER( ZCE-_F+-A=1t—
H:&E) -
*  For identification purposes only * (gt
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company allotted shares to ST MA LTD, a controlling shareholder,
under a special mandate on 8 May 2023 and the net proceeds from the
share subscription, after deduction of related fees and expenses,
amounted to approximately HK$59.0 million. The Company intends to
use the net proceeds from the share subscription of (i) approximately
HK$49.0 million for the acquisition of 10% equity interest in Shenzhen
Evolution Equation Technology Company Limited, a company engaged in
the provision of information technology solutions and e-commerce; and (i)
HK$10.0 million for general corporate working capital.

Set up below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 December
2023:

BEE W Lo (8)

FRERERAR

ARBR-_ZE-=FFHAN\BBELEX
MM IE R AR B ST MA LTDER B2 B& 15+ IR 15 32
BEBZEARBFE(ENKREBER X
X 18) 4 A59.08 BB T - AR A #t#5 IR
DREFTBEZIBRBFHEEPHL4907H
BEETARKESRECENEBRIAIRER
ETEBZARGITELCSTEREER
NAE10% BAEUWEE © N ()10.0 8 &8 T B {E
TtE—REEES -

N REIINBEE—_E_=F+_A=+—H
METEFIEFENER AR

Approximate

Planned use percentage  Actual use of Net  Unused total Net
of total Net of total Net Proceeds up to Proceeds up to
Proceeds Proceeds 31 December 2023 31 December 2023
EEZE-2-=f HEZZB-Z=fF
Bmme L8RS +=A=+-B +=ZA=+-H
RIERH REFR ZHERREH FACE X3
AEAR BREoH BERRAZ HARGRERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET (%) FET TET
Acquisition of 10% registered Ut & = 31| 77 i 1t
capital of Shenzhen Evolution ~ H 2RI AR A 7
Equation Technology 10% =E it & 7
Company Limited 49,000 83.0 49,000 -
Working capital EBEES 10,000 17.0 8,241 1,759
Total A& 59,000 100.0 57,241 1,759

The unused net proceeds of approximately HK$1.8 million have been
deposited with licensed banks in Hong Kong.

HMAERAEHRIBFEMIBEEELER
ABBFERTT
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Corporate Governance Report

¥ ERRE

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules detailed in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Company has complied with all code provisions under the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day-to-
day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
are provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e)  to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

The Board comprises seven Directors, three of whom are executive
Directors and the other four are independent non-executive Directors.
Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao

Mr. Jiang Peiyan

Ms. Jiang Yu E

Mr. Li Xiao Hua
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERRE (B)

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has an
appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition of the
Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules. There are four independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With more
than one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence element
in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 80 to 83 of this annual
report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), on 19 May 2017 with delegated powers for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the committees of
the Company has been established with written terms of reference.

The Board conducts at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

As of 31 December 2023, the Company held fifteen Board meetings, five
Audit Committee meetings, two Remuneration Committee meetings, two
Nomination Committee meetings and one independent board committee
meeting. All minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees were recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by
the Board and the decisions reached. Details of the attendance of
Directors are as follows:

TEERRE (B)
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AERT+TARESEEH ARNERZ
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Attendance/Number of meetings

HERY ERETAY
Independent
Board board
Meeting Audit ~ Remuneration Nomination General committee
(Note 1) Committee Committee Committee meeting Meeting
Ezeed BUEZ
Name of Ditectors E3it (&) FMEAE®  FMEAR  E4EAR  REAR  EARR3
Executive Directors: HTES:
Mr. Ma Lie Sk
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (R-ZE-m&E-F§
TABEE) 1215 = = 212 12 I
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BEELE 10115 = = = 0 =
Mr. Tam Chun Yu EEFELE
(resigned on 31 March 2023) (R=B==F=A
=+-HEfA) = = — - 1N =
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling RURLT 1515 — - 11 2 —
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Note 2) ERELE (FFE2) — — = - A -
Independent Non-executive Directors: B EHTEES:
Mr. Chen Yue R E4E
(retired on 20 June 2023) (RZB-=%/A
Zt+HEMA) 6/10 33 112 112 12 1"
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Note 2) ERELE (ME2) 14/15 5/5 22 212 12 1
Mr. Ji Gui Bao REERA 14/15 5/5 2/2 22 2/2 1"
Ms. Jiang Yu E EREuL 14015 4f5 22 11 22 17
Mr. Li Xiao Hua FHRERE 215 055 02 02 02 0
Mr. Jiang Peiyan TEREE
(appointed on 31 March 2023 ) (R=F=-=%=R
“+—-BEZH) 5/10 073 0/0 0/0 n 0/0

Note 1: Include a Board meeting where the chairman met non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors in the absence of the executive Directors and management.

Note 2: Re-designated from independent non-executive Director to executive Director on 16
January 2024.
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The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising from
corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice should be given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company Secretary
at the meetings and are open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each of
the independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are
subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-
election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 66 of this
annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the
date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses or reading
relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective Directors
are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a
whole; and independent non-executive Directors will participate in the
Company’s various committees including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Li Xiao Hua has not yet given the
a written confirmation of independence to the Company. Save as
disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any facts which may affect
the independence of Mr. Li Xiao Hua. The Company has received the
written independence confirmation from all other three independent
non-executive Directors, and considers such independent non-executive
Directors who have provided the written confirmation to be independent.

Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group. The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation of
the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and is
accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These
functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.
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TEERRS

BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 May 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the
authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Jiang Peiyan, Ms. Jiang Yu E and
Mr. Li Xiao Hua. Mr. Ji Gui Bao is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies of
the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Board.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditor, Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited (“Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited”), and recommended the Board
to re-appoint Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as the Company’s auditors for
the financial year ending 31 December 2024, which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the Group's audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least four times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider it necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’

attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises one
executive Director, namely Mr. Cui Hai Bin, and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Jiang Peiyan, Ms. Jiang Yu
E and Mr. Li Xiao Hua. Ms. Jiang Yu E is the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder of
the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee has sufficient resources to perform its
duties properly. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the members
of the Remuneration Committee have reviewed the 2023 annual
remuneration plan and the 2023 annual remuneration framework for
each Director and key management personnel (including senior
management) of the Group.

Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
benchmarking of the market. The Remuneration Committee also looked
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 of this annual
report.
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Senior Management’s remuneration S AREEE N
Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for theyear HE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—H I FE -
ended 31 December 2023 falls within the following band: NEBSHEEEBENTMN Y NEUTEE
A
Number of
individuals
HK$ BT AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 021,000,000/ 7T 2

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cui Hai Bin and Ms. Zhang Yan Ling, and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Mr. Jiang Peiyan, Ms. Jiang Yu
E and Mr. Li Xiao Hua. Mr. Cui Hai Bin is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,

meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Nomination Procedures:

The secretary should give the Nomination Committee members a
membership list, listing out the current Board members’ name,
position & duties at the organization.

Each year, the Nomination Committee evaluates the current Board
members to assess whether they are performing satisfactorily and
should be considered for re-election. Evaluations may be performed
by a subset of the Nomination Committee or an independent third
party to ensure the fairness.

Next step is to receive recommendations for new Board members
from management or current Board members. The Nomination
Committee should review the resumes of potential candidates,
assessing their skills and experience to determine if they meet
qualifications for the position. In reviewing candidate profiles, the
committee should also consider various criteria, including:

o Proven leadership

o Previous board experience

o Knowledge and experience

. Diversity — including age, gender, ethnicity, race, disabilities,
geography

o Experience with large and complex organization

o Skillset — including finance, legal, auditing, government
affairs, public relations, community experience, and
knowledge of the organizations

o In case of nomination for independent non-executive
directors, the reasons why the candidate should be considered
to be independent (should refer to relevant GEM Listing Rules
for the factors in assessing independence)

Provide a list of candidates to all the members of the Nomination
Committee for discussion and review.
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o

The Nomination Committee then contacts each candidate to make
an assessment for a high level of personal and professional integrity,
as well as to assess their level of commitment to the organization,
and availability. This is often done by assigning one member of the
Nomination Committee to one candidate, who will bring a
candidate summary with recommendations back to the full
committee. Additional interviews by the Nomination Committee
and the chief executive officer may be necessary to ensure due
diligence interviews may be conducted with the assistance of a third

party.

6.  The Nomination Committee forms a final slate of recommended
candidates to the full board for formal approval. Nominees should
not be present at this meeting to allow for open discussion by the
Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 of this annual
report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring
that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial year
are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the
financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
as of 31 December 2023, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining
proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the
state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the
Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern are
disclosed in note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 84 to 89 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
auditor to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately as follow:
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Amount

Type of services PR 75 38 2 Kok
HK$

BT

Audit services FET R 750,000
Non-audit services (Review financial report) FEEARG (EHTBERE) 0
Total FEE 750,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the
requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing the
composition of the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in the corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, three of which are
executive Directors and four of which are independent non-executive
Directors. Two out of these seven Directors are females. The Board
considers its diversity of gender is appropriate and no additional
measurable objective is necessary in this respect.

The Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that
are relevant to the Company's strategy governance and business. Mr. Cui
Hai Bin and Ms. Zhang Yan Ling are responsible for the day-to-day
management and strategic development of the Group. Mr. Yeung Ho
Ting Dennis is responsible for planning, organising, coordinating and
implementing visual display solutions of the Group. Mr. Cui Hai Bin and
Mr. Jiang Peiyan are responsible for the legal and regulatory matters and
risk management of the Group. Mr. Ji Gui Bao and Ms. Jiang Yu E are
accounting professionals with financial management expertise. Mr. Li
Xiao Hua, together with other independent non-executive Directors, is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may propose
a dividend.
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The Board will account for the following factors when considering the
payment of dividends:

a.  The general financial condition of the Group;

b.  The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

c.  The future cash requirements and availability;

d.  Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

e. The general market conditions; and
f. Any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Li
Xiao Hua has not yet given the written confirmation to the Company.
Except for Mr. Li Xiao Hua, the Company has confirmed, having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.
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The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for separate
issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put forward at
shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

As of 31 December 2023, the Company considered that the
communication policy implemented was effective as it helps to promote
the Company’s business development effectively and efficiently.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company'’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 18
June 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Convening of an extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at

(9]

shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to the
operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the Company
Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general
meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening of an
extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors,
communications relating to matters within a Board committee’s
area of responsibility to the chairman of the appropriate committee,
and communication relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints, to the appropriate
management of the Company, in writing to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company (http://www.
intechproductions.com) has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring compliance with the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable laws are followed.
Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating
communications among Directors as well as with management.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company, is the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung
Yin Fai can contact.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the following
principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ e 9B 35 FTERRE
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the risk
identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others, (i)
an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.
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TEERRE (B)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of both the design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board. The Board is of the view that the existing risk
management and internal control system is sufficient, effective and
adequate.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group’s
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group's internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND HANDLING OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees, every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
non-compliance with the Code of Conduct to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and the GEM
Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any inside
information as soon as reasonably practicable after such information has
come to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed its
disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely manner to
deal with such risk events.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

With effect from 27 June 2023, the English name of the Company has
been changed from “In Technical Productions Holdings Limited” to
“Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd”, and “EER T EBRMD AR A
A]" has been adopted as the dual foreign name in Chinese of the
Company.

Except the change of Company name as mentioned above, there was no
other change to the Company’s second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31
December 2023. The seconded amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company have been posted on the website
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards on
a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actions to
ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including
the provisions of the CG Code.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HERERERE

1B 15

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Purpose and Objectives

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG"”) Report (“ESG
Report”) aims to give the Group’s stakeholders a better understanding
of its visions, strategies and implementation of sustainability initiatives
that are of interest to its various stakeholders.

Reporting Period and Scope

The reporting period for this ESG report is from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023, and the scope of this ESG Report covers the businesses
of the Company in Hong Kong, Macau, and the PRC for the reporting
period.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social, and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in
Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules with contents that comply with the
disclosure requirements and principles under the Guide.

Reporting Principles

The ESG Report is prepared and presented based on the following
reporting principles:

o Materiality: Key ESG issues of the Group were identified through
materiality assessment and stakeholder engagement, which has
been disclosed in the ESG Report.

o Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion
factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption
(where applicable) has been disclosed in the ESG Report.

o Balanced: The ESG Report has provided an unbiased picture of the
Group's performance and has not avoided any selections, omissions
or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgment by the readers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g kEAmE(E)

o Consistency: The ESG Report should present information on a
consistent basis that stakeholders can analyze and evaluate changes
in performance over time. The Group will disclose if there are any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaning comparison in its subsequent report.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board and the management
evaluated the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The
oversight of the Board ensures that the management can have all the
right tools and resources to oversee the ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to transparency and
accountability, the management reviews and evaluates the Group’s
performance in respect of ESG issues and reports to the Board regularly.

ESG management approach and strategy for material
ESG-related issues

To better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually. The Group ensures various platforms and channels of
communication are used to reach, listen and respond to its key
stakeholders. Through communication with the stakeholders, the Group
is able to understand their expectations and concerns. The feedbacks
obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions, and to
better assess and manage the impacts of the business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality for each of the ESG aspects
through the following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (ii)
key ESG areas prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (iii)
validation and determining material ESG issues based on the results of
communication with the stakeholders.

Taking these steps enhances the understanding of the expectations and
concerns of the Group's stakeholders on various ESG issues, which enable
the Board to plan the sustainable development direction to address
material ESG-related issues in the future.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B 8 RERRE (B)

Progress review made against ESG-related goals and
targets

The Group will closely review from time to time the performance and
implementation progress of the goals and targets. If the progress falls
short of expectation or if there are changes in business operations, it may
be necessary to make changes and communicate about the goals and
targets with key stakeholders such as employees, customers and suppliers.

The Board has set strategic goals to enable the Group to develop a
realistic path and focus on the development direction for achieving its
vision. The Board will carefully examine the attainability of the targets
which should be weighted against the Group’s philosophy and goals.

Approval

To the best of knowledge, belief and information of the Board, the ESG
Report addresses all relevant material issues and fairly presents the ESG
performance of the Group. The Board confirms that it has reviewed and
approved the Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group strives to maintain supporting and trusting relationships with
its stakeholders. Through diversified communication channels, the Group
can effectively understand and respond to the expectations and
requirements of different stakeholders. The following table summarises
the main expectations and concerns of our key stakeholders and the
corresponding management responses.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Stakeholders
&

Expectations and Requirements

HEEER

BRI g hEAHRE (B)

Communication Channels
BREEB

Investors and Shareholders

BREHERBER

Suppliers

HER

Customers

BP

Government

B

Employees

o

=

A

Community

o

. Corporate Governance
° Returns
o Company Values

. pEEn
. ER
. ARMEME

o Code of Conduct
° Assessment Criteria

o Service and Product Quality
o Customer Services

e RBREREE
o KPR

o Compliance
o Equality of Employments
o Occupational Safety

e &R
s RBRE¥F
e BEZ®

° Compensation
o Occupational Health and Safety
° Career Development

e B

e RBERREZZE

e BEXER

o Information Transparency

s EBME®WE

o Annual General Meetings

o Announcements and Circulars
. Financial Reports

° ESG Reports

s RKREBFEXRE

o AEKRIEK

o HiBHE

. BY HEREARE

o Company Website

3 Emails

3 Phone calls and Meetings
o  NEMU

o ERi

e ETFEhke:

3 Company Website

o Emails

o Phone calls and Meetings
o NEMU

. EH

s EBEREH

o Notices and Filings
o Emails

o ESG Report

e BHEXIE

o ERi

e RE HERERWME

o Trainings

o Internal Meetings
o Emails and Notices
. = ol

e  REEH

o EHENAEH

o Company Website
° Announcements
. NGIFEhs

LN

REMEEERONOERLR —Z2-=F5FRK

43



44

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE-weghEawms (B)

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily
operations so as to minimize the use of resources and reduce various
emissions. The Group complied with applicable laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of PRC and Guideline on the
Applicability of the Noise Control Ordinance in Hong Kong.

I. Emissions

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group is principally engaged in providing visual display solution
information technology consulting services and hotel reservation
and conventional planning services, we consume limited natural
resources to operate and therefore have a relatively low
environmental impact, furthermore, the Group does not produce a
significant volume of hazardous waste from the daily business
process. The major wastes are solid non-hazardous wastes such as
office paper generated from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group implemented a number of measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the
environment. The Group also encourages employees to maximize
the use of electronic communication and carry out general
discussions and communication through long-distance telephone
calls or other online communication tools in order to reduce non-
essential business trips and avoid increasing the pollutants emitted
by the use of transportation.

The major sources of air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission that
the Group associated are energy consumptions in regard to the
purchased electricity used in the Group’s offices and daily operation.

The total GHG generated by the Group during the reported period
ended 31 December 2023 were 70,871 Kg CO,-eq, comprising
direct emission from motor vehicle gasoline, indirect emission from
purchased electricity and other indirect emission from fresh water
usage.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g kEAmE(E)

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance, Product Eco-responsibility Ordinance
and other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharging
into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.

In addition, no significant fine or non-monetary sanction for non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations has been reported in
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Use of Resource

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes
of protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency.
To pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection,
the Group has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy
efficiency, minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy
consumption and driving behavioural changes of employees.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce the Group’s operating costs as well as our
carbon footprint.

The following procedures and operation guideline were designed to
conserve resources:

Energy

] Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when
they are not in use.

o Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical.

o Use separate light switches for different light zones.

o Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Water K
o Water taps are constantly checked to avoid the water dipping. o & A K BETE AR R R IR KIS
ﬁ o

D Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for o THEEREBETERAIAR
overflowing tanks are regularly carried out. BB KD ES & MW e

Other Office Consumable H {th ¥ A FE A

. Stationeries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable o XEBREESER  UFERATEE
stationeries are employed. ERAMXEA -

e Other than formal documents, paperless working environment o RBREXEIH REBHTEAL
is promoted in the Group. PR/

e Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever possible e  REERFRLERH AR A
when photocopy for internal documentation. BiEa o

. Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle ° EfEARKERBALEIKAER
bin or collected by suppliers. W gk i At FE R U o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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lll. Environmental Performance Indicator . REBERIEE
In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the Stock BEBIPAEHIRBRE 2 LEE
Exchange, the data of the “Emission” and “Use of Resource” of the Etes s REFBRSRES BB HE®R
Group during the reporting period is as follows. MIRTERERIEHROT -
Emission HEm
Seven-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
Energy use and emission  BEJREA KB Units 2023 2022
HZE HE
—E=-= ===
+=—A=+—-H8H +=Z—A=+—H
B IEFE 1 1E A E R
Electricity EW) kWh 77,478 39,960
T FL
Intensity of energy BEEREE kWh/employee 630 465
TR &8
Motor Vehicle Gasoline BE R L 7,706 3,618
9‘_|_
Intensity of energy BEERE L/employee 63 42
EE
GHG BE RS Kg CO,-eq
TR &g E
Scope 1 & EN Kg CO,-eq 18,186 21,767
Fr_StRESE
Scope 2 & [E)2 Kg CO,-eq 52,685 27, 117/3
FTR-_E{xkEE
Total GHG mERBEE Kg CO,-eq 70,871 48,940
TR &g =
Intensity of GHG BERBTE Kg CO,-eg/employee 576 569
Fr_ftRES
{=g=|
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B 8 REARS ()

V.

Use of Resource BIRER
Seven-month
Year ended period ended
31 December 31 December
Resource use EiRER Units 2023 2022
S HZE
—E-= —_E-—
+=—A=+—H +=ZRAR=+-—H
B LFE 1E1E A HA R
Water 7K m’ 739 347
SR
Intensity of water consumption 7K % & m*/employee 6.01 4.03
MFHAKEER
The Environmental and Natural Resources Iv. RERXAER
The nature of the Group’s business does not involve in any REBEKEE NE REIRERKA

significant impacts on the environmental and natural resources. The
relevant principles and policies on managing emission and use of
resources are already disclosed above.

Climate Change

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one of the
most discussed topics among companies. The Group is no
exception, having increasing concerns over the potential impact
from climate change on the Group’s business and operation. The
Group regularly reviews global and local government policies,
regulatory updates and market trends to identify potential climate-
related risks which may have an impact on the Group’s business
operation.

In accordance with the reporting framework developed by the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are two major
categories of climate-related risks, physical and transition risks. The
Group will develop a response plan such as changing the business
strategy and modifying the development plan in order to reduce
the negative impacts of such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in its
business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient resources
for managing identified climate-related risks and studying the
potential remediation measures.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no climate-
related risk, including physical and transitional risks, which had
significant impact on the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g kEAmE(E)

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practice

The Group recognizes that the Group’s success and market
leadership are closely linked to the support from our dedicated,
hard-working and task-oriented employees. The Group recognizes
that employees are the Group’s most valuable assets and vital to
achieving the Group's sustainability and long-term growth.

The Group strictly abide by all applicable laws and regulations in
locations where it operates, including but not limited to the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Protection of
Minors of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China” and Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). We forbade all kinds of non-compliance employment, forced
labour and child labour. During the reporting period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance concerning
employment-related laws and regulations in all area of operation.

The Group is also committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental
health and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast
opportunities of career development for every employee, striving to
match employee’s personal and business development goals of the
Group through a comprehensive training system, effective incentive
mechanism and fair competition platform, so that the mutual
benefits for employees and the enterprise can be achieved.
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Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere
for employees through encouraging mutual respect which
ultimately promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 123 (31 December 2022:
86) employees. In order to cope with the continuously growing of
business scale, the Group acquires talents from different aspects
and backgrounds to join the Group'’s globalized team. The Group
strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations in the
Group’s employment process, such as recruitment, dismissal,
promotion and setting up of remuneration packages of employees
regardless of where the Group operates. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws and
regulations.

Employment

° The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment
contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant
social insurances and employee’s compensation insurance and
medical insurance to all employees.

o The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed to
eliminating sex, age, race, disability and religious
discrimination in employment and emphasizing on the
performance and experience of the staffs in promotion or
recruitment. A fair and structural staff performance
assessment is set for making promotion and salary increment
decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted annually to assess
work performance.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare noted in the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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TREIWR-E-_=ZF+_A=+—
HizMHR - EEER - FiEc48 5 &
BEEBAsHNEH IURBEE-F
T ZE+ A=+ BILEFEERE

The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical region and as at 31 December
2023 and the employee turnover rate by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region for the year ended 31

December 2023: Bl EEEE R - F AR K& IR [E
EomEERAEX:
Workforce Employee turnover Gender ratio
Headcount rate% (Male:Female)
1% Bl Lt 1
BEOBAH BEREKEY% (B : %)
Gender M Bl
Male S 96 5.2 N/A i
Female pegis 27 0 N/A AN A
Employment type EFEER
Senior level staff SESEAE 10 0 7:3
Administrative staff THIES 10 0 2:8
Operation staff 2iERES 103 4.9 87:16
Age group Fhera Rl
30 and below 3058 R BATR 69 5.8 N/A i A
31-40 315%-407% 34 2.9 N/A N3 A
41-50 41 B%-507% 16 0 N/A N3 A
Above 50 S50B% A £ 4 0 N/A T3
Geographical region b 3B [ 15
Hong Kong BB 26 3.8 N/A TN iE A
PRC == 89 4.5 N/A TN iE A
Macau R P 8 0 N/A “~NiE
Health and Safety s B
o The Group is dedicated to providing a healthy and safe o AREBHHAHEERM (AR

workplace to its employees. The promotion of occupational
and health measures at workplace are regarded as essential
to our businesses and operations of the Group. The Group
committed to undertaking various occupational health and
safety measures to relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Law of People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Appropriate occupational and health
manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by
the core business units. Risk assessments of workstations are
conducted constantly to identify and assess the risks to the
safety and health of the employees, and to decide whether
existing measures are adequate.

B2 TSR N ITESHM
HEBEREEERSAREX
BREBNEZIRE - NEHEK
AIRBHEBEE AR
BEERERzziER BEEN
RICFEARAMBEBRERD
AR RAB R T 2 Mg BRI
(BBIEBIFES09F) - D%
BEUDRMEAEEXF AR
MERBERRETM EHE
5 uh B TT R B AT A - PARLRI &
HEREZEZREET ENE
B YHEEREREEEEH -
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° First aid kits are located at convenient locations and are
properly maintained in the office, workshop(s) and
warehouse(s).

o Workplace safety posters were display at prominent location
in the warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of
safety.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards noted for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related
fatalities of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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e MRMRE ERkEEFEARF

MU EREZRE TXE4H
E%O

e RNAKBREMNBRUERMT
ESMLeBHm RETEASR

HEz_ZT_=F+_A=+—HLHF
B HMEEREBERELZEZIERE
MMREREERIBELENEBEE
oA -

TREINBE_ZFT_=F1+_5
=+ HALEFEAEERTEBEN

T HAB X
Headcount Rate
HwAE [ ez

Work-related fatalities TEREFEMmILT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has not incurred
any lost days due to work injury of its employees.

Development and Training

o The Group believes that training is an important path to
improve the overall work quality and offer comprehensive
development to the employees. The Group encourages our
employees to attend external or internal training courses to
enhance their competence and job-related knowledge.

o Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision to the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication
and team spirits within the Group, and to improve their
technical skills and managerial capability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained TREFINAEERE-_ZTE_=F+=

by gender and employment type and the average training hours A=+—BLEFERYER KERE?

completed per employee by gender and employment type of the P HMXIEEE D MIRIER R E

Group for the year ended 31 December 2023: FEAESHNBEEE THZ I F
olisE o

Percentage of  Average training hours
employees trained completed per employee

BEEETRZIN

ZilEEE DL TR
% Hour
Bk B B
Gender 5 Bl
Male S 13 2.1
Female 7 4 2.1
Employment type EEE R
Administrative staff TEUE B 0
Operation staff EERE 13 2.1
Labour Standard A% T A
o The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance . INEEEE AR SRR H &
policy towards the employment of forced labour and child TRETERDMZEARBHE - AR
labour. Upon joining the Group, each staff is required to fill in NEBK BLXETEES —H
a recruitment form. Should the staff provide false identity or HBEXK - HMEITRHEERBRSH
false personal particulars, he/she would be considered to have FEBREAAER  BHEEABERE
committed serious breach of the Group's rules and regulations B AN EE AR B & RGN 37 BD
and his/her employment would be terminated immediately. BIFEERBEZ -
There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations HEE e SsE e s B = - —[g| (£ &
relating to preventing child and forced labour noted in the year B HEERE@EBIELERE I XA
ended 31 December 2023. T8 TR BRI AR ROER o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE L2 NERAWMS(E)

Operating Practice

Supply Chain Management

The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the Group’s
qualified engineer for product quality and safety and will be
stored in our warehouse.

All parts suppliers of our electronic equipment must comply
with national or international safety standard.

If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their
products, the Group will eliminate the aforesaid supplier from

the approved supplier list.

Annual supplier evaluation will be conduct by management.

Product Responsibility

The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits not
making dishonest allegation of our competitors in order to
mislead the customers during their decision-making.
Moreover, the Group would not acquire confidential
information of a competitor via espionage, the subordination
of the competitor's employees or through any other improper
means.

The Group has committed to supply the goods and services
that meet the reasonable expectations of our customers. We
provide customers with effective mechanism to lodge
complaints and manage such complaints with due care.
Besides, the Group respects the confidentiality of our
customers and their commercial information. We do not
disclose such information to protect their privacy.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations

relating to health,

safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress noted in the year ended 31 December 2023.

Privacy Protection

The Group strictly complied with The Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap 486 of Laws of Hong Kong)

The Group committed to upholding intellectual property
rights. All employees were educated and expected to protect
intellectual property rights and avoid any infringement.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complied with applicable laws and
regulations against corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the Laws of
Anti Competition of the People’s Republic of China, the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct
to its manager. A whistle-blowing email has been setup for
reporting such incidents and senior management will be
responsible for investigation if deem necessary.

The Group is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
has strict guidelines for directors and senior management for
any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, directors or
senior management are required to take certain hours of
training each year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
against bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering noted in the
year ended 31 December 2023.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

Social responsibility is one of the Group’s cultures. We are
committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold
strongly the belief that a business organization should not
detach itself from its social responsibility.

The Group encourage its employee to participate in volunteer
activities in order to give back to the society and people in
need.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B i ® R EARE (B)

Index to the ESG Reporting Guide

(BE HEREABSEIDARE

E]
Area: Environmental s : IR1E
Disclosure Indicator Section
BREER =4}
A1: Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Emission
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

1: BERRY — R E EHEBERNMAZEREHER  RAKEITHHOEES -  BERY
EEREEREYNELESN  QBE: kb)E
THETAETEAXENHEBEEZERINE
#o

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emission

A1.1 HE P 18 KR K AR B R BB - 2 387

Al.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where  Environmental
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Performance
volume, per facility). Indicator

A1.2 BRERBAFAE(UBARE) R(NER)EE REEWER
(WMASESEBEMN  BELIETE) -

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and where  Emission
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

A1.3 FMEXEEEEMAE (AMETHE Mﬂw HA)E  BEMW
EMAEBESEN  SERBTE

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and,  Emission
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Al.4 FEAREEEMAE AETE) R(WMER)E BN
EMNEBESEMN  BHERBTHE)

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and  Emission
results achieved.

A1.5 R EERENRBRAEKRRE - BER

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous  Emission
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

A1.6 HAMEEAEENBEEREYNGEZ BREEELEE  HRY

MEmNMFTERER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE g kEAmE(E)

Disclosure Indicator Section
BEER =6
A2: Use of General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Use of Resource
Resources energy, water and other raw materials.
A2 BRER  —MEE ERERER(BEER KEREMRME) HER BIRER
% o
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  Environmental
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh) and intensity (e.g. Performance
per unit of production volume, per facility). Indicator
A2.1 REAIASHEER SBEEER(INE Rk RELEWEE
M EFEE(TRER)RBRE(WABEE BT
BRBETHE) ©
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per  Environmenta
unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
Indicator
A2.2 BEKERZE(WMUNSESEMN BEFET RREAKIEE
")
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and  Use of Resource
results achieved.
A2.3 o 2 BB R (2 A e 5T B R PR AR o &R {E A
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  N/A
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.
A2.4 FHSKEGE B AR EAT B EREE UWRREAR T#EB
KRRz 5T B RIS AR ©
A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in ~ N/A
tons) and, where appropriate, with reference to per
unit produced.
A2.5 BRMAAAEEMENEE (ABE) R(E TER
R)BHESBMEE -
A3: Environmental General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact ~ Emission
and Natural on the environment and natural resources.
Resources — = BEZTAHREBERRABRERNEAZEN W
A3 IRIER R ©
RAEIR
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on  The Environmental
the environment and natural resources and the and Natural
actions taken to manage them. Resources
A3.1 HMEBRTHHRBELRRAERNERATER REEKXRAER

EXNEEBRAZENTY -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Disclosure Indicator Section
REER =4}
A4: Climate General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant ~ Climate change
Change climate-related issues which have impacted, and
A4 RiEE 1L those which may impact, the issuer.
—RRILE BRAREHERRAESHETAEETEN RIRE(L
BEARGHEBEEEHERE -
A4d.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues  Climate change

which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

A4 HRERRARSHETAEETENEARAR KREZL
=EEEE  RELTE -
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RIE g kEAmE(E)

Area: Social

Disclosure Indicator

REER

Section

;0]

Employment and Labour Standard

BREKE TER

B1: Employment

B1: {Ef%

B2: Health and
Safety

General Disclosure

— R

B1.1

B1.1

B1.2

B1.2

General Disclosure

—REE

B2.1
B2.1

B2.2
B2.2

B2.3

B2.3

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
ERFHLEE BREREN TEHE - R
H TEge Sl REBUAREMFBR
BANHBR METHETAGEATZENHER
EERBOINER

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

RER  BEER FRAENRWES SNES
BN -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

R FRESN KRB SO EERKL K-

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

EARBEZ2TIERERREEERH 2B EN
BENREK  REFHBTAGTEAZENEH
ERRIROINER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.
AT T ASRMEEE-

Lost days due to work injury.

AIGEAIIEESH -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.

R RAHBREERZ 2HE - ARBEER
TRERAIE-

Employment and
Labour Practice

BRERLBETIER

Employment
Practice

BIBER

Employment
Practice

BIEER

Health and Safety

Health and Safety
fEREZ e

Health and Safety
EEEZ S

Health and Safety

BREEzE

REMEEERONOERLR —Z2-=F5FRK
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Disclosure Indicator

BREER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R g kERWME(

=)

N

Section

;0]

B3: Development
and Training

B3 : #E K

B4: Labour
Standard

B4 & T3

N

General Disclosure

— MR

B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

General Disclosure

—RIWE

B4.1

B4.1

B4.2

B4.2

Operation Practice

&EEH

B5: Supply Chain
Management

BS : & 3 12

General Disclosure
— R E
B5.1

B5.1

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
FERRAEEBTIEBRENAZNKRENRK
o R IFINEE o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RUNREEREN(WEREERE HPREEE

FaomEZIEEBDL

The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.
RZUHRNREEENE S  BREETKZINNT
5 8 ¢

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

BB IEE T 08645 T : @BUER  K(b)EST
HETAFEATZENHBEEZRBAONEH -

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

Ml HEEINERABRE T RAH S
T o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

HMAEZREZRBARBERE BIERAMKRERDY
W o

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.
ERHERNRRREERARBUER -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

mriwEE s HEEREE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - -AghERHRE (B)

Disclosure Indicator Section
BEER E=4:0]

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, ~ Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B5.2 A EHAERHERNED  RERTEREN HEESE
WEEEHE UREEBANRITRERS
% o

B6: Product General Disclosure  Information on the policies and compliance with  Product

Responsibility

B6: EmAIT

— R

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3

B6.4

B6.4

B6.5

B6.5

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of
redress.
EHFRHERNRENEREZS BE &£
BRALBEEARBRAEANEE  REFHE
TABEARZENHEBERZRROINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEREELXEMBRPTRLRTEREEHM
AR AL -

Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EERENERMRBHRFHRE AREE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and

protecting intellectual property rights.
M EREENRENZEZEGBANED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.
Rl EEREREREREKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
i B R ERHRE RALBBUR - A RBEBRIT
MERFE-

Responsibility

mt
2o
i}
m

Product
Responsibility
EmAE

Product
Responsibility
EmAE
Privacy Protection
LR %
Privacy Protection

LR #E

Privacy Protection

FLFS R o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE -8 RkERHRS(

Disclosure Indicator

—t
=)

Section

;0]

B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure

B7 : RE S — R R
B7.1
B7.1
B7.2
B7.2
Community
HE

B8: Community  General Disclosure
investment

B8 : tRmIEE — R 5

B8.1

B8.1

B8.2

B8.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BN ILEHE R HEREEEN(@QBER:
MO BFTHETAGEAZENHBEZEZLR
o=

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERHAHBHTAXEREERLATIEESAD
BAFRREBEE RFRER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.

BB S E i R BRER - ARBEBRTRER
T0E °

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
BENTR2ERBERBETACEMELRS
ENBREXBEHEERHLEISABE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

EXEREE(WHE BEFTH SIFK &
Rt 88E)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EEIBEMPAER (WS EXKR) -

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

Community

o

Community

At [

Community

At [
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Report of the Board of Directors

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in (1) the provision of visual display solution services for concerts
and events in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, (2) the provision of
information technology consulting services in the PRC and (3) the
provision of hotel reservation and convention planning services in the PRC
(the”Business”). The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 39 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the audited consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 96 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 180 of this annual
report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Significant Investments, Material
Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries”, during the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group did not have any significant investments.

The Group has no specific future plans for material investments or capital
assets during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

E=gHE(E)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes 18 and 20
to the audited consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 29 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 32 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 33 to the audited consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$123,453,665. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company may be applied for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association and provided that immediately following the payment of
distributions or dividends, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company or
any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cui Hai Bin
(Chairman, re-designated from independent
non-executive director to executive director on 16 January 2024)
Mr. Ma Lie
(resigned on 16 January 2024)
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
(Chief executive officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu
(resigned on 31 March 2023)
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yue
(retired on 20 June 2023)
Mr. Cui Hai Bin
(re-designated from independent non-executive director
to executive director on 16 January 2024)
Mr. Jiang Peiyan
(appointed on 31 March 2023)
Mr. Ji Gui Bao
Ms. Jiang Yu E
Mr. Li Xiao Hua

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.
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Confirmation of Independence

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Li Xiao Hua has not yet given the
a written confirmation of independence to the Company. Save as
disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any facts which may affect
the independence of Mr. Li Xiao Hua. The Company has received the
written independence confirmation from all other three independent
non-executive Directors, and considers such independent non-executive
Directors who have provided the written confirmation to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is subject
to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 80 to 83 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a
party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the year ended
31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, no contract of significance had been entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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DIRECTOR'’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of
its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or chief executive of the Company (including their spouses or children
under 18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of
the Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group from the listing date to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

(a) Interests and short positions of Directors and chief
executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in the Company

Ei%inﬂﬁﬁq<ﬁ£

EEREIRE

() EERFETHAEBRAEALT
REMEBZENRMD  HEK
DREREETNEZRAR

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H &=
HARAmREITBABRAARSKE
HEEZE(EERBHFRHAEKNE
XVER) B B 0 - 48 B8 A% 1D K & #E 75
HEHIBIEFEF KRB E &G 5352157
AZIEH TR E 2 &5 oo A0 #E = Kok
2 KRB GEM kT R B £ 5.46 1% P
Li%Lﬁp%x%mﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁ
Ae A QA KRR BT R s RO B a0
R ¢

() ArEER

Number of
Shares Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
KRB E
Espns B REME (MgsE1) BREDL
Mr. Ma Lie Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 375,097,894 (L) 46.12%
BRlEE 2HEEEm (HRE2)
Ms. Jiang Yu E Beneﬂaal Owner 2,994,000 (L) 0.37%
EFmLt EnEA A
Mr. Cui Hai Bin Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 (L) 0.12%
ERARE ExnEAA
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling Beneficial Owner 1,988,000 (L) 0.24%
ok U 3% 22 + BEanEAA
Notes: BEEE

1.

2.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

ST MA LTD is wholly-owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive Director up to
16 January 2024 and a controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Interest in associated corporation of the Company (i) MAQXTHEBELEBHPER
Number of
Name of shares Percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity (Note 1) shareholding
g 4=
EEfE HEBEEERE 514 (ME3E1) BERESHK
Mr. Ma Lie ST MA LTD (Note 2) Beneficial owner 50,000,000 (L) 100.0%
BrlsEE STMALTD (P 7%2) Em#AA
Notes: i EE -
14 The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares. 1. FRNLIKRBEALTRERODSBH
A -
2. ST MA LTD is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive director up to 2. STMALTD HARAFIHITESE (HEE

16 January 2024 and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were (i)
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO; or (ii) otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
by directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of the substantial

shareholders and other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2023, so far as it is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Number of
Shares held/
Interested Percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
®BE®E
Em i
g =]
REREHE B EEMtE (BF=E1) BERED
ST MA LTD (Note 2) Beneficial owner 375,097,894 (L) 46.12%

STMALTD (P 5% 2) EnEAA
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

2. ST MA LTD is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive Director up to 16
January 2024 and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
was recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted the
Share Option Scheme on 19 May 2017. A summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1.

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below) to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for such number of new shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares, representing
approximately 9.84% of the total number of shares in issue as at
the Latest Practicable Date.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing the identity
of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such participant),
the information as required under Rule 23.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under Rule 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing Rules;
and (ii) the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to
time with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible
Participant is a core connected person) abstaining from voting.

The period within which an option must be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.
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6. The minimum period for which an option must be 6.

held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

7. The basis of determining the exercise price 7.

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (i) the
average of the official closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

8. The amount payable on application or acceptance 8.

of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.

9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme 9.

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

BRETENAFAENREHY
PR

BERSTERONBRETENAR
ENREHR HEESTREER
AR o

BETHEENEE

R I B8 B R At 81 P IR (A E R IR
AP EBRONTEEEHESESE S
RIEEE EZXEBEBREAZELRTI
ERETHNRE  (BEOHREEAR
HERBMIXAATEEESFNAF)
R ARERMABHLAES
B (EERLBEHAAEERAR
MRBR SR RERAROLENF
BT E - R mEE -

RESEMABREANSEN
B 84 tH = 7] BE 4 W AF SRR B
BEANHRIEEZFFRBER
R E R H R

RERBRERRMNB Bz 25 &

BABAARNRBZMN1.008THESE
HARE -

BRESTENGRTFH

BRIEZ TR IEHIER] - BARER 8
REBBEHBA —_ZT—FRHATA
B)EFH10FHEARER -

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options were B B 4% B A% 7 51 21 48 - 2N QA &) I £ 1R 15 B8
granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the Share Option  AX#E=t 2|3% 4 ~ {T{E ST BB IR « NN E
Scheme. There were no outstanding share options under the Share S HH X WHEBEREFZEBE IO HRTE

Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report. BEARHE -
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS AR 4 84 155 R

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section headed & - S [BE A& #E =T 2 | » &) P & B8 pE i =1 2

“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were 4} -

MBS E == B S p— 5 II2EE

entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December & KEFMEI Ve IFERER B3 -

2023.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023



Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 17.83% and 53.90% (seven months ended
31 December 2022: approximately 3.5% and 11.5%) of the total revenue
of the Group, respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers of
equipment accounted for approximately 28.7% and 77.84% (seven
months ended 31 December 2022: approximately 28.7% and 84.5%) of
the total purchases of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year
ended 31 December 2023 did the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any
interest in the Group's major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group has not entered into any transaction which is required to be
disclosed as a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 12 December 2022, the Group entered into a share subscription
agreement with ST MA LTD, pursuant to which ST MA LTD has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for 13,157,894 subscription shares at
the subscription price of HK$7.60 per subscription share for a total
consideration of approximately HK$100 million. On 17 January 2023, the
above connected transaction in relation to the issue of new shares to the
controlling shareholder was approved at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company. Closing took place on 8 May 2023, and
13,157,894 subscription shares, representing approximately 1.62% of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company on 8 May 2023, have been
allotted and issued to ST MA LTD.
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Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 12 December
2022, 31 March 2023, 20 April 2023, 8 May 2023, and the circular of the
Company dated 17 January 2023 for further details.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 34 to the
audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 14 to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 39 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Caymans Islands and the Articles which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the Companies Ordinance, every Director is entitled under the
Articles to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in
their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as he or she shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the year ended 31 December 2023. To the extent as permitted by
the Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in
place to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising
from claims brought against the Directors.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 123 employees (31 December
2022: 86), including Directors. The remuneration package of the Group
offered to the Group’s employees includes salary, bonuses and other cash
subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’ salaries based on
each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has
designed an annual review system to assess the performance of the
Group's employees, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with
respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and
suppliers.
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The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly the
existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to its
customers and keeps a database for direct communications with recurring
customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The Group
also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2023 and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
can be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on
pages 6 to 19 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 40 to 62 of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company
will be held on 18 June 2024, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 13 June 2024 to Tuesday, 18 June 2024 days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 54/F, Hopewell Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 12 June 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the
Directors are not aware of the occurrence of any material events that are
required to be disclosed.

AUDITOR

The Company changed its auditor from PricewaterhouseCoopers to
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited with effect from 17 June 2022. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, who shall retire
at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

By order of the Board
Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd
Cui Hai Bin
Chairman

27 March 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cui Hai Bin (#/88), aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022 and re-designated as an
executive Director and chairman of the Board on 16 January 2024. Mr.
Cui is also an executive director, the general manager and the legal
representative of Guangzhou Yichiyuan Technology Limited. Mr. Cui
graduated from China University of Geosciences (1 Blith/E X&) in 2007
with a major in laws. Mr. Cui is a lawyer in the PRC and currently a
partner of Guangdong Promise-U (Qianhai) Law Firm (B3R & Z&KIE(RTE)
2RISEAEFT). Mr. Cui was admitted as a lawyer in the PRC in 2009. His
practice covers complex corporate reorganisations and equity capital
markets transactions.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#7%), aged 50, was appointed as a
Director on 4 November 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director,
chief executive officer and chairman of the Board on 10 November 2016.
He resigned as the chairman of the Board on 11 May 2022 but remained
as an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
Yeung is also the founder, chief executive officer of the Group and a
director of each of ITP (BVI), ITP (HK), Intechpro Macau Limited, and the
executive director, general manager and legal representative of each of
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (42 K 5%
{LBZECRY)ABR A R]) and Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited (_E/&
HESEAEMTAMR2AR]). Mr. Yeung founded the Group in April 2009
and is primarily responsible for devising strategies to develop the Group
and overseeing the business and financial performance of the Group.
Throughout the years of serving the Group, Mr. Yeung led the Group to
adopt a number of latest LED and projection technologies for creative
applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED and transparent LED
panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 13 years of experience in video equipment
rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Yeung worked as a
senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a company which is
principally engaged in video equipment rental business where he was
responsible for customer accounts handling from April 2007 to May
2009. During the course of his promotion of video equipment rental
service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers, Mr. Yeung
acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and visual
display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked in
various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior I\/Ianagement (Continued)
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Ms. Zhang Yan Ling (R%i¥%), aged 61, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 November 2022. Ms. Zhang joined the Group as
administrative manager in November 2022. Ms. Zhang graduated from
Tianjin University of Finance & Economics with a bachelor degree in
Economics. She worked in the Agricultural Bank of China between 1984
and 2018 with the last position as a bank manager at the Shenzhen
Yuanling branch (ElI43777).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ji Gui Bao (&2&E), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Mr. Ji has been registered as a
Certified Public Accountant of the PRC since 1995 and has extensive
experience in the accounting field. He has been working for Shenzhen
Wanda Accounting Firm (RIIE ZE S 5HEIE15FT) since January 2005 and
is currently a partner of the firm.

Ms. Jiang Yu E (ZE®), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Ms. Jiang is the chairman of
Shandong Ansuyue Technology Company Limited* (1L % &R BEH AR
‘A7\]). She has been the chairman of Shenzhen Hawfeng Ballerina
Decoration Co., Ltd. (FYITHEL HEEMARAFR]) since 2013. She
has extensive experience in sales and corporate management.

Mr. Li Xiao Hua (Z#E%E), aged 72, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 November 2022. Mr. Li founded Huada
International Holdings Co. Limited in 1988 and served as the chairman of
the board of directors since then, which businesses cover China, Japan,
Southeast Asia and South America. He has been elected as the member
of the 9th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the Honorary Chairman of the China Charity
Federation, member of the Standing Committee of the All-China
Federation of Industry and Commerce and director of the China Overseas
Friendship Association. Mr. Li acted a non-executive director of Great
China Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (Stock Code: 21), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, from 6 October 2022 to 31 December 2023.

Mr. Jiang Peiyan (CI3%#), aged 51, obtained a diploma in Education in
Ideology and Politics from Qufu Normal University in July 2004. Mr. Jiang
has extensive experience in business development and management. He
is currently the chairman of XuanKun International Investment Limited (/%
HBIBE E B R A 7)), the chairman of Guangdong XuanKun Investment
Co., Limited* (EREIHKREABR AR, and general manager of the
operations department of Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group* (ZEYITIIK FHBEE
B). Mr. Jiang was the vice president of Well Link Financial Group
(184 B2 ®) from October 2019 to November 2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chai Sensen (¥7%#), aged 32, is the general manager and
technical director of Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Limited (&
IHENEEBHEER A R]). Mr. Chai joined the Group in July 2022 in
conjunction with the completion of the Group’s acquisition of equity
interests in Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Limited. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chai was the general manager and technical
director of Shenzhen Xinhang Information from October 2015 to July
2022, and was mainly responsible for the overall deployment and work
arrangement of the company’s software product planning and product
development direction. Mr. Chai has over 11 years of experience in the
information and data technology field.

Mr. Chai received vocational education in network information security at
Beijing Qianfeng Internet Technology Co., Ltd. At R T2 E BRI AR A
Al) (“Qianfeng Education”) in 2013 and acquired relevant vocational
skills.

Ms. Shan Jun Hui (EE &), aged 41, is the general manager of Yeyato
(Shenzhen) International Travel Limited (£ Y BE(RYI)BIBR IR T4 B BR A R)),
a subsidiary of the Group. Ms. Shan joined the Group in February 2023
and is mainly responsible for the operation of tourism products on travel
e-commerce platforms and the organisation of large-scale commercial
performances. Ms. Shan has over 22 years of experience in the culture
and tourism industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shan was the
marketing director of Dalian Yida Property Co., Ltd. (RiEEEEHERD
BBRAF]) from July 2002 to December 2014, and was mainly responsible
for the planning and marketing of real estate projects. During the period
from April 2015 to August 2020, she was the general manager of
Shenzhen Kanglv Culture Media Co., Ltd.* CRYIIFEIR AL EE AR A 7))
and was mainly responsible for the operation of tourism products.

Ms. Shan obtained a graduation certificate in business administration
from Central South University in the PRC in July 2015.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#), aged 59, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services provider)
since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Code: 6063), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS Hong
Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an independent
non-executive director of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (Stock
Code: 0061), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in
November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd
(Formerly known as In Technical Productions Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Brightstar
Technology Group Co., Ltd (formerly known as In Technical Productions
Holdings Limited) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 90 to 179, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023

BREMNBEERGERARRR
(F1#8In Technical Productions Holdings Limited)
(RASHSHEMA v 2 BFRLA)

=R

KMEEFFINENFOEI1798B MR E
& ER MDA R D A (A I Technical
Productions Holdings Limited) X H Ff & 2 &
(ATHBIESE])MWIERE M BHRE  ULH
BRERBER_E_=F+_A=+—8H
Wi BMRRAEREBEZB EFENE
AEaEMNEZERER SAEZED
KXNEEHERER UEKAEVBHRE
Mz BEETESHEEER -

BRRR ZEHAMBRERCRERTE
GG ((FEEEHMAE]) RMENE
BUBREZEA(FEMBRELENDE
EMPBRBRT EXKER_T_=F
T-A=Z+T BB BRARAREBE
ZALFENRAVBRAREERERN
B WD EREB(ABKOIDOWERTE



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment

Refer to Note 4 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held visual display equipment of
approximately HK$97.2 million. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
depreciation of approximately HK$23.1 million for the visual display
equipment was recognised under “cost of services” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using a straight-line
method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives of 8 years,
except for the equipment which are custom made for a particular project
or event and their cost is depreciated over the duration of the project or
event.

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display equipment with
reference to the durability, expected repairs and maintenance and future
demand of the equipment.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B AZ AR E (8)

Management also takes into account the industry practice and
expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in the market relevant to their business.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of visual display
equipment is significant to the consolidated financial statements and the
determination of estimated useful lives of visual display equipment, which
has a direct impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use of
significant judgements and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Understanding and evaluating the management’s internal control
and assessment process of estimation useful lives of visual display
equipment and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the useful lives adopted by the
Group by reviewing the historical usage of the equipment,
discussing with management and making reference to, where
available, independent research report on durability, expected
repairs and maintenance and future demand of visual display
equipment;

— Testing on a sample basis, whether additions to visual display
equipment have been recorded in proper categories for the
calculation of depreciation; and

—  Observing the Group’s physical count procedures on visual display
equipment and the physical condition of the relevant assets to
identify whether there is any damaged or obsolete visual display
equipment.

We consider that the Group’s estimated useful lives of the visual display
equipment are supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of property, plant and equipment of HK$97.6 million as at 31
December 2023 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount
rates); and

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant and
equipment is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B AZ AR E (8)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023

BRRMESEAMBRENEFS  HMAW
BEERMEREMER  EiltBied  ZEH
EEESEFAMBRRIAKMER
BEFATHENELFEEANEELEMU
FHEEEXRBERRANBR - EREME
HITHWIHE UREMARBBEMEEFTE
EAHERRL  BAFEREZFTE -HEE
FE - HPOREERERS

EENAEMBHERRAREN

BEfE

EXZRARERBEREESTMASEMNE
BB REER R EFECR BRI K E
RERBEEMTENEAMBHRE I
HERARREFREMBEREINBEIFE
F 7 AR 3k 86 AR T 8 B EY B K 55 AR PR A A
FHAFZEHEE -

ERBGEEMBRRN EFREFME &
SEFBELLENRD XTEERABERTH
BHESELLEHANEE  URERFE
RERBAER BHAEZHEN EKHE
BRAFLELE ARELMERNER

FE-

REMRBEA GRS Y BRRAR
MEE

7

BMWER RYGAVBRRERBRES
THEEHRKEFKERRME M EKER
RS EERE YHABREMER
MAZ B RS - RIFER B TNUESERE
BERMANER BRI AERERER
AW - M TERABENARTRMEM
H AT B L AREAEE - A BRI
EEKTFHRE ETHERELZREES
RAERIETHMES EX -EXERRAL
FHEBAEEE - SFREM A A HRFX
RS MRASEFRHMEMEBFIER
ERAETERA VB RRERERBE
EUMBRRAEHNEERE  AABH
BH AR PR AT AR ARAEE K o



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZE AR E (8)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the HfIMERG AV ERRMAEAEZEEDN
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at: E—SHAENESSTMA AL

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/  https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/

auditre Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. ZIEM BB PR BRI E 2 — 5
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited FEZZESHAEBHAARIE
Certified Public Accountants HF S A

Yeung Hong Chun 5 E &

Audit Engagement Director EIHEEES

Practising Certificate Number P07374 ¥ 2% [ AR 4R 5% P07374

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024 BA ZE-_MNME=HA=++tH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEERHAMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—T-=F+=-A=+—HIFE

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E-=E =8==
—HA—BZ% NE—HZ
—EC-=HE —E-=
+=ZA=+—H +=ZH=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
k=2 BT & T
Revenue I &= 8 95,668,122 40,238,260
Cost of services B 75 B AR (69,102,958) (29,245,735)
Gross profit E R 26,565,164 10,992,525
Interest revenue B U 25 32,836 722
Other income EH At U A 9 782,970 2,134,555
Other gains/(losses), net Hulkzs (B1R) F58 10 316,647 (179,106)
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition WERERT B A Al R B UL
of a subsidiary g 35(b) — 11,768,234
Administrative expenses THRAX (51,042,868) (14,981,615)
Provision for impairment losses on trade B 5 EWHIBRERE
receivables B (3,259,760) (1,839,118)
(Loss)/profit from operation e (FE) BT (26,605,011) 7,896,197
Finance costs B 7% B AR 11 (661,066) (368,213)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBiAT (B51E) G F (27,266,077) 7,527,984
Income tax expense TS Rif 12 (557,849) (61,094)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period £ /BMR(ER) SR 13 (27,823,926) 7,466,890
Other comprehensive loss after tax: BREAEMEEER:

Item that will not be reclassified to TEeEN I HEBm
profit or loss: EH :
Changes in fair value of equity investments 2 A V(& A E {2 E
at fair value through other WaEmERRER
comprehensive income NEEEE (619,381) (267,179)
Item that may be reclassified to BB D EE B m Y

profit or loss: EH :
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEBHER
foreign operations =8 (3,886,962) (4,574,916)
Other comprehensive loss for the year/ & HiAHMB2EER
period, net of tax (H1Bx % 18) (4,506,343) (4,842,095)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for £ R 2E (FE) K FH
the year/period Fegc] 32,330,269 2,624,795
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

'A_-| /\ [ | N\ 7/ 7\ N\ 7/ ?-:E
e kEMmEEKEER (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE-T-_=F+=-A=+—HItFE
1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—EC-=F —E-_—
—B—H% ~NA—HBH=ZE
—EC-=HE T
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+-—H
Notes HKS$ HK$
k=2 BT BT
(Loss)/profit for the year/period LT ATEEE HR
attributable to: (&), &A
— Owners of the Company —ARNDBEHEEA (17,882,091) 4,233,548
— Non-controlling interests — IR R 2 (9,941,835) 3,233,342
(27,823,926) 7,466,890
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for LT ATEGE BHA2H
the year/period attributable to: (B#8) WEHE:
— Owners of the Company —ARNEHEEBA (19,677,317) 4,164,853
— Non-controlling interests — JE PR A T (12,652,952) (1,540,058)
(32,330,269) 2,624,795
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (HE)BA 16
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (B) (2.21) 0.53
BREMFEBEROERAT —ZT=FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI &

As at 31 December 2023 RZ-Z==F+-H=+—H

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
i »
—E-=F =
+ZA=+—-H +=ZH=+—8H
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB RKRE 18 97,576,193 60,739,462
Goodwill [ 19 489,054 —
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 20 10,323,280 3,747,040
Prepayments and deposits AN RERIEZS 21 2,977,899 2,438,176
Equity investments at fair value through 32 QA FEE A H 2 E
other comprehensive income WS H RS IR E 22 32,218,715 33,512,821
Prepayment for investment at fair value & A F{EH A H 2 UK
through other comprehensive income = M1 & B B 3R E 23 44,140,366 —
Deferred tax assets EEFRIBEE 30 2,106,233 853,324
189,831,740 101,290,823
Current assets mENEE
Trade receivables B 5 kWA 21 12,226,501 11,973,451
Prepayments, deposits and other FERHIE  Re REAM
receivables FE UG Fx 18 21 184,768,666 191,570,735
Amount due from related parties & U B Bt 5 2O 24 5,839,579 —
Bank and cash balances BITRIREEH 25 12,027,776 22,559,361
214,862,522 226,103,547
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B 5 e 3R 26 33,105 165,467
Other payables and accrued liabilities H i fE 1 RIE R BT AE 27 93,581,238 52,218,763
Amount due to related parties FE AT BB B 5 BRIB 24 1,537,237 37,294,025
Bank borrowings and overdrafts RITEZRBEX 29 5,928,683 9,576,832
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 4,362,202 3,707,898
Taxation payable FE B IR 3,213,924 2,491,470
108,656,389 105,454,455
Net current asset REBEEEE 106,206,133 120,649,092
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBRABER 296,037,873 221,939,915
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI R (E)

As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=F ===
+=BA=+-B +=A=+-8
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 6,144,707 309,508
Contract liabilities AHMEaE 28 882,800 900,800
7,027,507 1,210,308
Net assets EEFE 289,010,366 220,729,607
Capital and reserves BA R &
Share capital f& Zx 32 8,132,319 8,000,000
Reserves E 33 123,379,731 42,626,973
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE AEGER
the Company 131,512,050 50,626,973
Non-controlling interests FE PR IR HE AR 157,498,316 170,102,634
Total equity A5 289,010,366 220,729,607

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 179 were approved £ 90E179BHGEA M KHRA T _NE
and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 andare = A -+ + AR EE et & R EE & -

signed on behalf of by: WHATATREESE
Cui Hai Bin Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
ERE BEE
Director Director
BEF BEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZ-_=F+=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN 11
Non-

Share Share Capital  Exchange Statutory Investment Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
BAx  ROEE EARE EXRRE ZERE RERE  RHER B FEREZ BEREE
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
B B B B BT B B B B BT

At 1 June 2022 R-ZT-—F
~A—A 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 320,827 332,29 —  (19,461,371) 46,462,120 (522,751) 45,939,369

Total comprehensive (loss)/ HN2E(5E)/

income for the period Wi — — — (7,537) = (61,158) 4233548 4,164,853  (1,540,058) 2,624,795
Acquisition of a subsidiary YEE R B A R — — — — — — — — 172,165443 172,165,443

At 31 December 2022 R-E--F

+ZA=+—H 8000000 56,496,624 773,744 313,290 332,2% (61,158)  (15,227,823) 50,626,973 170,102,634 220,729,607

At 1 January 2023 R-B-=fF
—A—H 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 313290 332,296  (61,158) (15227,823) 50,626,973 170,102,634 220,729,607
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 ] 2 [ 518 4 48 - - —  (1,653,388) —  (141,838) (17,882,091) (19,677,317) (12,652,952) (32,330,269)
Issue of shares (note 32(a)) BRI (E32a) 132,319 100,430,075 - - - - — 100,562,394 — 100,562,394

Acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AR
(note 38(b)) (Fii5E38(0)) - - - - - — - - 48,634 48,634

At 31 December 2023 R-F-=fF

+ZRA=+—-H 8132319 156,926,699 773,744 (1,340,098) 332,296  (202,996) (33,109,914) 131,512,050 157,498,316 289,010,366
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT-_=—F+-_A=+—HIEFE

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—EC=F =E——t=
—RA—HB=E ~NA—BZE
—E-=F T
+=ZHA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
Bt 5% BT BT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBRESRE
(Loss)/profit before tax MRl (B518) 8 Fl (27,266,077) 7,527,984
Adjustment for: BT SIAELRAE
Interest revenue M E M= (32,836) (722)
Finance costs B 7 AR 661,066 368,213
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BE K&
equipment e 23,244,693 10,673,583
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEESEINE 4,209,634 1,874,617
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEWE  KERRENERE
equipment 6,185,233 =
Provision for impairment of B 5 RBGIERE
trade receivables B 3,259,760 1,839,118
Share-based payments % 15 5 7% 562,400 —
Gain on bargain purchase BN E S — (11,768,234)
Operating profit before working capital EEESEBALE
Changeg %_ﬁ %lj 10,823,873 10,514,559
Change in trade receivables Z S REWRIBZS (3,512,810) 646,198
Change in prepayments, deposits and other  FEf 518 » 124 &
receivables H fth & IR I8 & 5,092,526 (26,232,069)
Change in contract liabilities EHBEEE (18,000) (43,200)
Change in trade payables B o ENRIBE (132,362) (426,999)
Change in other payables and accrued H fth JE 5 5018 K B AT
liabilities BEEH 5,391,052 (429,913)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations RERE (A BEE 17,644,279 (15,971,424)

Hong Kong profits tax paid

BENEBFEH (2,107,592) B

Net cash generated/(used in) from

REFHME (A

operating activities REFEA 15,536,687 (15,971,424)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMBRERE
Interest received B W B 32,836 722
Payment for acquisition of property, plant ~ WE ¥ % - BKE & B &

and equipment B (29,483,791) (3,359,955)
Net cash (outflow)/inflows from acquisition of J & [ & A 71 Y IE &

a subsidiary (md)/ RAFE 38(b) (530,498) 11,633,559
Prepayment of purchase of investments BARXFEFARMEERK

in fair value through other comprehensive HH R A R TE N R

income (44,140,366) —
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZEE (FTR) e

investing activities HEeFHE (74,121,819) 8,274,326

BENEEERDERAT —ZET-=FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

fﬁi /ﬂb%% (,Zf:é

;\\/ \

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z—

—=F+ZR=+—HIEFE

1/1/2023 to

1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
“EC=F ===t
—H—HZE AA—RA=Z®
—EC-=F —E-—
+-ZA=+—-H +=ZH=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
B &% BT BT
Cash flows from financing activities REZTHFERERE
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (3,648,149) (1,936,921)
Proceed of other borrowings H M8 5K AT15 508 — 4,189,804
(Repayment)/advance from related parties BT (B 8% (1,596,253) 32,962,799
Payments of principal element of lease BEHEBELASE D
liabilities (4,368,216) (1,904,890)
Payments of interest element of lease BEEHEEGENEHR D
liabilities (257,641) (129,953)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTG, Fﬁ ?:E'r FRIE 59,999,880 —
Bank loan interest paid BERBETERHE (403,425) (238,260)
Net cash generated from financing RETHMBRELEFR
activities 49,726,196 32,942,579
Net (decrease)/increase in cashand cash BERBEEZEBY (B 2),/
equivalents EhFRE (8,858,936) 25,245,481
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEPE R E B R 5 (1,672,649) (3,516,423)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning £ “H %] ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ
of the year/period £EY 22,559,361 830,303
Cash and cash equivalents at end of F/HMARERES
the year/period ZEBY 12,027,776 22,559,361
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents HEeREEEBYIM
Bank and cash balances RITRBE 4 12,027,776 22,559,361
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED e B RERME

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd (formerly known as In
Technical Productions Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at Unit D2, 5/F, Hoi Bun Industrial
Building, 6 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the provision of information technology
consulting services in the PRC, and the provision of hotel reservation
and convention planning services in the PRC (the “Business”). The
Company’s shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14
June 2017.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

—REH

BREMREERND B R QA (A EIn
Technical Productions Holdings Limited)
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BRERESHERAEEELT) (BT
RS 5] ~ # 70 sk BA H b 75 R & 2 72 5
ERESAMKIAEREER AR -
H F it 3 = 5E Hb 41k A& Clifton House, 75
Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1008 Cayman Islands ¢ /K A &) £ &
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Notes to the Conso
e SRR (8)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new and
revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
which are carried at their fair values.

During the seven months ended 31 December 2022, the Group
changed its financial year end date from 31 May to 31 December in
order to align its financial year end date with that of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, which are statutorily
required to prepare their accounts with the financial year end date
of 31 December. The current period consolidated financial
statements cover a twelve-month period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023, the comparative financial statements cover a
seven-month period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022. The
comparative amounts are therefore not entirely comparable.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgement and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in note 4 to these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses of
goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
("functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency. The
functional currency of the Group’s principal operating
subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB"”). The directors consider that
choosing HK$ as the presentation currency best suits the
needs of the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that
have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i)  Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a

foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Visual display equipment

BEBERRE

Furniture and other equipment 4 years
REREMRE 45
Motor vehicles 3-5 years
_E 3Z5F
Leasehold improvements

HEEE REEA

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal lease terms are as follows:

— Premises 1-5 years
— Office equipment 1-5 years
—WNEE —ZRF

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$ 5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating
leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023

3.

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

BEAEBE @

HE

REBEHAEA
HERHEEENHAEEHFERKRE
REFAREEREENHEESE -
FEHEEEINRAKNANRERFITE
BEEB FAREETENER
EREEMNAEAFHEBEEH (A
REERE)MBEKATE - £EMH
BRan R

ERBREERKA(BHHEERE M
EFRMNR VBEEXAREERK
MR ESB)E HERGBER
BHEHETR MM X (WA EE) XA
SENZEEERF KRN HENK
FRE-BEHHEHENREPERAR
MR - MR AERE B ARG
ABm URBEHEEBZHTHE&
WEEMEHE -

HEHAENRKEEEERBHONR
EFHEHANREGREINEBETERA
Ay SHHEEAVKRAERAS12E
AU THHE - REBEEELEE
{E 525,000 LA & £ ©

AEEERHEA
BEERBENEAID AR M BRI
AEBRE2ABEANEOARINERS
B KEHEHSWAREBAED
NIAEGEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

—  Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the equity
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
(“ECL") on financial assets at amortised cost. ECL are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the ECL
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL") for trade receivables, or if
the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that represents the ECL that result from
default events on that financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance at the
end of the reporting period to the required amount is recognised in
profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Bank and cash balances

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(@]

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme")
in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of
the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group's various lines of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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AR E M B R R (8)
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets except deferred tax asset, investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors of
the Company have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below.

Consolidation of entity of less than 50% equity interest
Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in
Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Xinhang”), Shenzhen Xinhang is treated as a subsidiary
because the Group is able to control the relevant activities of
Shenzhen Xinhang as a result of the shareholders’ agreement
between the Group and other shareholders of Shenzhen Xinhang.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(@

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or there
are unfavourable events and change in facts and circumstance
which result in revision of future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables and contract assets, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and loan receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the

period in which such determination is made.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group'’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to United States dollars (“US$"), Macau
Patacas (“MOP”) and Renminbi (“"RMB"). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not

the Group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, US$ is
reasonably stable with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, and accordingly, the Group considers the foreign
exchange risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed

relative to US$.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, if RMB had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, loss (seven-month period ended 31
December 2022: profit) for the year ended 31 December
2023 would have been approximately HK$1,065,449 lower/
higher (seven-month period ended 31 December 2022:
HK$211,314 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains on translation of payables denominated in
RMB.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss models:

. Trade receivables; and

° Other financial assets carried at amortised cost; and

o Advance to third parties.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due from
reputable companies in the entertainment industry and
e-commerce industry. The Group has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a
combination of both individual and collective basis.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses also estimated by grouping the
receivables based on similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles, and applying the expected credit loss rates
to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates were determined based on
historical default rates and were adjusted to the effects of
current market conditions as well as forwardlooking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as “net
impairment loss on trade receivables” within operating loss.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised cost
include bank and cash balances, deposits and other
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The impairment loss of other financial assets carried at
amortised cost is measured based on the 12-month expected
credit loss. The 12-month expected credit loss is the portion
of lifetime expected credit loss that results from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and other
receivables as low as the counterparties have the capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023

(Continued)

ctHmERERE @
(b) EERE K@

RAREEGEBHEELESE
EHEEEEEEBRERUEE

2 B 5 0 T FE AR SR I #E 1T D 4R 1R
ﬁ? LA % 28 88 5F & YR [B] /9 AT A&
M EPEZEERFHERKER
MELIAER TEEHEER
BEEXEANERFENERERR
@o

BHEEERXTIRBEELEN
REE iﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁm@%
& Y ERPERERWRIAR W

%@Iﬁmﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ

s

B SR FBENRERBEREE
%EW%WM&%E%%EW
BEEEFE] - & - KRB EE
W BB Ze SRR B RS
BR AP S o H 12 W (Bl 5k AT E MEE
MEBABAGSBEZREMS
mREE -

BEMERAIRNEBERERE
AEBRBEAATROEME
MEERBRSAMBMRARAK
RITRBESR REUNEEAM
& W SR IR o 9% 55 AK 7R B BR B9 EL
mWeRmEENREBERIIAR
12EABREEERTE - 121
AEHEEBEARN RS A MK
T EARAREELANESRMTA
EBENSHEZRNMO 2 HEHE
EEB AWM WEERRASY
BIARARIE I - B ER 2R
BHEEEBRRERE-

m#&%%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
/\ |:| qfﬁi\/ﬁgﬁfi ’ %i@ﬁ%\
REzREMERRENEER
BEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
T A SRR (8)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. L EEMREE @

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERK @

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The majority of the Group’s bank and cash balances are
deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC which are of high credit rating.
Management does not expect any losses arising from non-
performance by these financial institutions.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed with
various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and are
due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy agreements and
handover of the leased premises. The Group has not
experienced any defaults by the landlords.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for equipment are
placed with various reputable companies in Hong Kong and
the PRC, and are due to refund upon the termination of
equipment rental contracts and return of the leased visual
display equipment. The Group has not experienced any
defaults by the counterparties.

The receivables from newly acquired subsidiary’s former
shareholders are closely monitored by the directors of the
Company. Management does not expect any loss arising from
the borrower.

For advance to third parties, in order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has established policies and systems for
monitoring and control of credit risk. The management has
delegated different divisions responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring processes
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable
amounts of loan and interest collectively at each reporting
date to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets carried at amortised costs
were close to zero under 12-month expected losses method,
and therefore no provision was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s R T e ()

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. £REREE @
(c) Liquidity risk () RBELRER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and REBNKEATHERRIRA
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains LREHRESESER  UERE
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in Wi BRI S B DA FE A B
the short and longer term. EFEEHNRSESEK -
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flow, of ER KRB EREM25AE
the Group's financial liabilities is as follows: BB EENEEONIDT :
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 and
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
—Fr/
REREE 1225 2ES5F st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BTt BT

At 31 December 2023 R=-T=-=Ff

+=—A=+—H

Amount due to JE S R B 5 3R0E

related parties 1,537,237 — — 1,537,237
Trade payables Z 5 RS 58 33,105 — — 33,105
Other payables and H b ROE K

accrued liabilities A’ 93,581,238 — — 93,581,238
Lease liabilities HERE 5,324,531 4,336,868 2,101,258 11,762,657
Bank borrowings and  $RITER R E X

overdrafts 6,225,117 — — 6,225,117

106,701,228 4,336,868 2,101,258 113,139,354
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

YA £ =
,m ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂT (%)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. TEEKEEE @
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () ZBELAR @
Within 1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 and
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
—FRN/
RERER 1824 2E5F #Et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT BT
At 31 December 2022 =T ==
t=A=+-8
Amount due to J& 1<F B B 5 3B
a related party 37,294,025 — — 37,294,025
Trade payables B 5 ENNRIE 165,467 — — 165,467
Other payables and At & T FIE &
accrued liabilities Esta & 52,218,763 — — 52,218,763
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,043,943 423,175 20,434 4,487,552
Bank borrowings and ~ $R{TE R K& iE
overdrafts 10,055,674 — — 10,055,674
103,777,872 423,175 20,434 104,221,481

(d) Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group did
not have any interest bearing financial assets or liabilities
except for cash at banks and bank overdrafts at floating rates
and bank borrowings at fixed rates. The Group’s cash at
banks earns interest at low interest rates, which are not
significant. Hence, bank borrowings at fixed rates are what
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the directors
of the Company consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to the Group’s cash at banks and bank borrowings was not
significant as the fluctuation of the interest rates was minimal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e I mRERNTE(E)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. LElEREE @
(e) Categories of financial instruments e) EMIENDSE
2023 2022
—E-= —F-
HK$ HK$
BT T
Financial assets: ERMEE:
Equity investments at fair value through 32 A FEE A 42
other comprehensive income WHERKTE 32,218,715 33,512,821

Financial assets at amortised cost REBHEKATERENEMEE

(including cash and cash equivalents) (B1#FER & KIREEHEY) 212,576,917 200,852,612
Financial liabilities: cRAaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ RE R AFIBRH S @B E 111,587,172 103,272,493

(f) Fair value (f) N SF{E

Except as disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial BB RENTMIEEE
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial OGN IZ A BT RSR R IR H AN &
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated HepmiEELSmABENERE
statement of financial position approximate their respective HEKAHNAFEERE -
fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value:

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of
any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@)  Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December:

AR WIS AR BT AT ()

AV EHE

RFERMB2EERGFER LT
MEFXSTHEEEMBRNMKER
BEMXAONER - UTAFEFE
BREEMAANRQFERBZEBNAG
EQRFENBESZAEANEG AL
B R=TAE&:

F—R@A AEERFERHAE
B# BSHHEREEXRARR
AR5 E B R

) -

E_RBN RE-—RBEHORE
B Sh BEXABHAH
EHAER(TwmBEEX

f#) -

F-HBWA BEELRBENTAER

B# BAER -
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ(%%ﬁ@&ﬂ:ﬂ%&%ﬂii\&
EHIEMR

@ RTZA=+T—HRAFEE®R
AR B EE

Fair value
measurements
using:
FERAUTER
FFEATE:
2023
—E-=fF
Description Level 3
2 B E=H
HK$
BT
Recurring fair value measurements: KEMNFETE:
Equity investments at fair value through BRAFESAREMEEKED
other comprehensive income ERRE
— Private equity investments —LERERE 32,218,715
Total recurring fair value measurements KEURTETEHARE 32,218,715

REMEEERONOERLR —Z2-=F5FRK

125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s R T e ()

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. AFETE@m
(@) (Continued) (@) (#&)
Fair value
measurements
using:
FERNTER
FEATE:
2022
—EF-—
Description Level 3
54 88 F=®
HK$
BT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMDAFHETE:
Equity investments at fair value through BRATFE AEMEE RS
other comprehensive income BEmEE
— Private equity investments —LERERE 33,512,821
Total recurring fair value measurements KEURTEFTEHAE 33,512,821
(b)  Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value b)) BE=FZLATEFENEERE
based on level 3: BEH R :
Equity
investments at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Description income
BROFETA
Hib2EWKEW
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2023 RZE=-=F—H—H 33,512,821
Total gains or losses recognised in O E 2 T U 25 T R Y IR &R sk
other comprehensive income BB 4a %8 (619,381)
Exchange differences ME N, ZE 5 (674,725)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEBE-_=F+=-HA=+—H 32,218,715

126 Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023



6.

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ol

& B 5w M wE ()

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. XV EFE@
(Continued) (b)y (#&)
Equity
investments at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Description income
RRAFEEA
H b2 E W= Y
5% BA R E
HK$
75 7T
At 1 June 2022 R_ZE__FXHA—H —
Total gains or losses recognised in 7 L fth 2 THD 52 2 T 58 B UK 5 Bk
other comprehensive income AR (267,179)
Acquisition of a subsidiary L 55 BT 8 A ) 34,688,000
Exchange differences ME 5, 2= 28 (908,000)
At 31 December 2022 R=-B-_—F+=-B=+—H 33,512,821

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in revaluation reserve in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2023:

The Group's financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial controller reports directly to the
board of directors for these fair value measurement.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the financial controller and the board of directors at
least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage an independent professional valuer with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience
to perform the valuations.

BEMREBRODBRAR =—T=

REAMEE KSR K S L E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s R T e ()

N

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. RNVEFE@
() (Continued) (o (&)
Level 3 fair value measurements E=RMAFEFTE
Effect on
fair value Fair value
for increase 31 December
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs ~ Range of inputs 2023
#1n
BAER —B-=F
HATE t-A=t-8
i 8 b B & i TUBEZBAER g M AFE
HKS
BT
Private equity investment classified as ~ Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 32,218,715
equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
PRRELDTEFAEMZE S HHEERE TER FER TEA
MEZRENLERERE
Effect on
fair value Fair value
for increase 31 December
Description Valuation technique  Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2022
0
BAER —Z-C
HAFE +-A=t-A
L] fRERM AUBERBAEH &E VHE AVE
HK$
BT
Private equity investment classified as Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 33,512,821
equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
PERELATEFAEMZEARSE HEEERE TEm NEm NER

128

MESRANLERERE

During the year/period, there were no changes in the

valuation techniques used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision-maker (i.e. the chief
executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and financial
position of the Group, which are prepared based on the same
accounting policies set out in note 3.

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

Provision of visual display solution services segment — engaged in
visual display solutions services for concerts and events and
equipment rental income;

Information technology consulting services — engaged in one-stop
technical consulting services and solutions for e-commerce business
platforms; and the metaverse technology business;

Hotel and convention planning services — engaged in hotel
reservation and convention planning services.

AR WIS AR BT AT ()

7 &b & #

BOBEEREFHRIR  TELER
REMAEBTRAER) BEHAEE
M B BB B K B ISR (R P RE3 AT &R
HREFTBERER)

AREBAAT =B ®REDE :

REBGB TR RRE DA — %
SEEERAPNEEBIRERTR
RIGAR R IBHERA

BABEEARE —HERETHS
X FaRE —wmARMEARE R
BORTE  URTFERMES

BERGHERIARBE—NEEERET
SRR B RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR mR WA (8)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEER @)

AREEBWMARED IR TR ER
NIRRT E BB XIS B - AR AAH K

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products and services. They are managed separately

because each business requires different technology and marketing MELEERAR  SBEEKBER
strategies. EIR o
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as B S et hEHESMBRE

those described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Bt SE3FT it & AR o

ARESHES EERAERABEE

Information about reportable segment profits or losses, assets and

130

liabilities: e
Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution  consulting planning
services services services Total
REET
BRER BEARBHE EEET R
R 7% BRARYE SBHRBRE ot
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
& T & T BT & T
For the year ended Hez_—_F_—_=4F
31 December 2023 +—-—A=+—H
LEFE
Revenue from external G ER B P UL 2R
customers 90,836,040 2,479,432 2,352,650 95,668,122
Segment loss D EE R (10,393,519) (13,295,713) (4,134,694)  (27,823,926)
Depreciation of property, M- BEMEE
plant and equipment e 23,244,693 — — 23,244,693
Depreciation of CREESENE
right-of-use assets 4,209,634 — — 4,209,634
Interest revenue F B WA 4,089 26,326 2,421 32,836
Interest expense TFIJ BRX (661,066) — — (661,066)
Income tax expenses 187 X (557,849) — — (557,849)
Additions to segment /%Eﬁ 7 EBIEIM B
non-current assets BE 77,203,945 — — 77,203,945
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

ire MR MR ()

7. DEER @)

Hotel
reservation
Information and
Visual display  technology convention
solution consulting planning
services services services Total
REE T
BRRTT R BB BEERR
P %5 BHRE SHEMAIRE BET
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
For the seven-month HEr—_F_-_—
period ended e S = s
31 December 2022 LE+ 18] A B A
Revenue from external SNER P Y g
customers 20,772,539 19,465,721 — 40,238,260
Segment (loss)/profit DE(EIE), 5 (9,075,447) 16,542,337 — 7,466,890
Depreciation of property, Y - BB &
plant and equipment e 10,673,583 — — 10,673,583
Depreciation of FRREERE
right-of-use assets 1,725,273 149,344 — 1,874,617
Interest revenue A B A 722 — — 722
Interest expense FIE X (360,497) (7,716) — (368,213)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FT{SFiK %R,
(F’fﬁ %) 713,308 (774,402) — (61,094)
Additions to segment BEDEIERE
non-current assets ﬁE 3,958,919 522,705 — 4,481,624

RENMREEROERATF

—E=EER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire B IS AR MY R

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(%)

7. 7EER @

Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution  consulting planning
services services services Total
BEET
R R BEAM BIEFERT R
PR % BHARYE SIHRERE et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT 7T BT
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZFE-=4F
+=-—A=+—H
Segment assets DEE E 184,425,043 218,441,221 1,827,998 404,694,262
Segment liabilities DEEE 97,573,905 12,663,039 5,446,952 115,683,896
Visual Information
display technology
solution consulting
services services Total
BEBER
fRRA R B RHR
PR 75 4 o AR % et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT & TT BT
As at 31 December 2022 O T
+= B
Segment assets DEEE 83,109,552 244,284,818 327,394,370
Segment liabilities nE A G 97,167,881 9,496,882 106,664,763
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR MR ()

8. REVENUE 8. Uz
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and WHERHE G B TRBEARTERS
receivable from provision of visual display solution services, BHBIHEZHRE - HERE WAL
information technology consulting services, equipment rental EBEEIIREZRHIIBENE W R
income and hotel reservation and convention planning services. An FEWRENATEE  KAEBHKZED
analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follow: M
1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—EBE-=F —_FT-—
—RA—B=% 7N A — Bl
—E2=-= T
+=ZBA=+—8 +ZA=t+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from visual display REREEEREER
solution services 77 R AR 7 B U 90,751,040 20,353,539
Revenue from information technology KEEMEHEFES
consulting services Rk 75 B W 2 2,479,432 19,465,721
Equipment rental income REHEWA 85,000 419,000
Hotel reservation and convention BIETER] R %R E
planning services B 7% 2,352,650 —
95,668,122 40,238,260
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I mRERNTE(E)

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 8. W= m
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-EB-=H+-HF=+—HLEE
Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution  consulting planning
Geographic information it EE R services services services Total
BEETR
BRRTT R BB BIERT R
PR % #wHARY SRRERE AE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B 7T BT B 7T BT
Revenue: W25 -
Hong Kong BB 37,666,861 — — 37,666,861
PRC Fh 28,587,598 2,479,432 2,352,650 33,419,680
Macau P 19,797,054 — — 19,797,054
Others H ity 4,784,527 — — 4,784,527
90,836,040 2,479,432 2,352,650 95,668,122
Timing of revenue =R
recognition B
At a point in time H—rmEE — 2,479,432 2,352,650 4,832,082
Over time W B R 90,836,040 — — 90,836,040
Total st 90,836,040 2,479,432 2,352,650 95,668,122
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ire MR MR ()

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 8. W= m)
For the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022 BE—_Z-_—##+-_A=+—HIttM@E
A B
Information
Visual display technology
solution consulting
Geographic information b E & ¥} services services Total
BEBER
fROR T R B RHR
Rk 75 & AR et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT T BT
Revenue: 2
Hong Kong B5E 16,901,784 — 16,901,784
PRC es 555,652 19,465,721 20,021,373
Macau S8 FY 194,733 — 194,733
Others Hfh 3,120,370 — 3,120,370
20,772,539 19,465,721 40,238,260
Timing of revenue Wz R
recognition B RS
At a point in time K — B A B — 19,465,721 19,465,721
Over time & B 20,772,539 — 20,772,539
Total HET 20,772,539 19,465,721 40,238,260

The Group’s non-current assets other than equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income and deferred tax
assets were located as follows:

AEEFRBEERRFEFAR
hErERENESRERELEREE
ERRINCIR T 5k

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

:g:_ﬁ =5 =
TZA=t+-— I = e =l
HK$ HK$
BT T

Non-current assets: JEREBEE

Hong Kong BE 100,356,269 59,617,848
PRC 5] 54,739,952 7,459,327
Macau B Y 410,571 700,827
155,506,792 67,778,002
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AT A

& B %5 R Y aE ()

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenue during the year/period is as
follows:

(Continued)

W %5 )
EBEFTEFZEFHER
REE BRI 0 A AN £ [ 48 K 25 10% 3%

A EMEFEHEKSMT

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E-=F —E-—
—A—BZ% NA—BZE
—EBZ=F —E-—
+=A=t-B +=-A=+-H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Customer A Z5A N/A* RER* 13,823,086
Customer B ®FB 17,064,757 N/A* ANiE R *
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of * AE kS E A REBBRWZSTE10%
the Group A E

Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group’s
services. Revenue is recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a
distinct good or service to a customer and is the unit of account
under HKFRS 15. Contracts of the Group include various services
which is integrated into a single deliverable and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation.

The Group derives revenue primarily under fixed price contracts. If
at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to
exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognized.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023

RERBETBERTERBEH
iy #8

K BB EBERBRTD ER &SR
BEHEBASETHHMEER B
/3 E P [RB BUAS K R A & A IR 75
oA - ham H2RERETT
BRARTHEREER &L AR <
KRETERAOBEENEREERRAET
BERNIEBNEEE -

BHREARNEFERAEE AR
Beaidiw UREEMBHREE
AIEISMIBE T Z @5 B - AEEM
BRNERZERY HEERE -

RNRR Rt —RESE-—BHOE
EARR -
AEENKREETBZREEETERA
#) o il M AT B B B R SE X & KD B
REBAENRENNG SR BER
B e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Revenue from information technology consulting
services

The Group provides information technology consulting services to
the customers. Information technology consulting service fee
income is recognised when the information technology consulting
service is rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the service.

Revenue from hotel reservation and convention
planning services

The group provides hotel reservation and convention planning
services to the customers. Hotel reservation and convention
planning service fee incomes are recognised when the services are
rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
customer’s acceptance of the service.

OTHER INCOME

e BRI (E)

W % )

KB & B R A W

AEBERE P REMH“EMDNKREAR

B BARRBAREERAREHR

ﬁni%’*?ﬁiu @HE%HTEEM'MEPTE
TEEFPEXBRBEOREITER -

REBERTIREZRERHK
Ky U 58

AEEmMEFRMEERITIRGER
R -BEBRINERREREE
WAREHAERGHER EF T
FEFERXPEIRENARETE
7% o

Hith gt A

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E=-= =5 ==
—A—BZE NA=E=E
—E-=F —_g-=
+=—A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Government grants (Note) AT 18 B (B 7E) — 652,832
Equipment repairment, technical BB - BRTE R
consultancy, project management HEEEBRAKR
income and sales of equipment FHEHE 768,849 1,456,509
Others Hitb 14,121 25,214
782,970 2,134,555

Note: Government grants represented subsidies obtained from the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and subsidies obtained from the local governments in Mainland China
and Macau to subsidise the operating costs of the Group's subsidiaries. There
were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these grants as at the end of the
year/period.

Mis: T HBIIE B BB R RITTREBR TR 5t
I ESOMA R A B R RIRF
77 BUR 1S B0 48 G - DA B R SR BB /B
DRAKEERE - RE/ R ZEH Y
3 48 B 7 A PR AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR e B A R BT L (

10. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

1/1/2023 to

10. Efbizs (FB) B8

1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022

—_E-= =8B ==
—A—HBE ~NA—BZE

—E-=F ===
+=A=t+-8 +=A=+-~
HK$ HK$
BT &I
Exchange gains/(losses), net R (&18) F5 316,647 (114,505)
Government subsidies IR 18 B — 1,712
Others Hib — (66,313)
316,647 (179,106)

11. FINANCE COSTS . B R A

1/1/2023 to

1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E-=F =B==
—HB—HZE NA—HBZE
—E-=F —E-_F
t=A=+—-A +=ZA=t+—H
HK$ HK$
BTt BT
Interest on bank borrowings RITE HF B 403,425 238,260
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 257,641 129,953
Finance costs B 75 Ak 2N 661,066 368,213
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AR WIS AR BT AT ()

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FTEHRHEAX

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022

—EBZ=F e —
—A—BZ% ANA—B=E

—_E2-= ==
+t=—A=+—-8B +=ZHA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax B[l HH %)CE H—H B3
("EIT") and other jurisdictions SRACERER])

&E‘r& ALEE R (1,810,758) (774,402)
Deferred tax (Note 30) I FE T 1E (KT 7E30) 1,252,909 713,308
(557,849) (61,094)
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and seven-month period BE_T_=—F+_A=+—HIL*F

ended 31 December 2022, no Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided for as the Group did not generate any estimated
assessable profit.

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and seven-month period ended 31
December 2022.

Companies incorporated and operating in Macau are subject to
Macau complementary tax, under which taxable income of up to
MOP600,000 is exempted from taxation with amounts beyond this
amount to be taxed at a fixed rate of 12% for the year ended 31
December 2023 and seven-month period ended 31 December
2022.

RENMREEROERATF

BERBE-_FT-_—_f+-A=+—~H
EE@EAME aRAEEYEES
ERFHEFERB G RREREE
MBS TAT R B -

HE-ZT-_="F+=ZA=+—HLHF
ERBE-ZZE-_—F+=ZRA=+—8H
Jtt@ﬂﬁﬁf'ﬁ 2 &£ B A R B AR A A

AIEETE25% BT B ERE
%Ro

BA/ﬁF'EJuEHﬂE‘Zi&%LE’J 7 78 B

RFIFEHAR Bt RBEE-F
__¢+ A=+—HLEFEREE
—F = F 1 = A= phgENHES
HiFE - £ % 600,000)% PTH#E &Y & 2R 7 UL
ARG - 8B BRI EE
R 12% BB -

—E=EER

139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (B8)
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Macau
complementary tax have been provided for as the Group has
sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current
year's assessable profit.

During the seven-month period ended 31 December 2022, no
Macau complementary tax have been provided for as the Group did
not generate any estimated assessable profit.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The taxation on the (loss)/profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong
Kong as follows:

12. FTEHHAI W@

HEe—_ZT-_=—f+_A=+—HI#F
B HRAEEERHLEETBER
AEEAFTFENERB G KB
PUBRPIFIS MR IR -

BE T _-_—_#+_-_A=+—HI1t+t
BEAHRE BRAEETEEETM

fis 51 B SR BOR R - MR A BER PTG
BB R A -

ﬁf&i‘@ﬁ%iﬂ%iﬁ?&ﬂﬁ’]ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ$%
BEERHE Tzﬁ%lﬁﬁ’]iﬁﬁifi
BREAmRRETEAREASE

BRETEF A (EER), SR EE 5
RNERBAENEFTEMSEEme
NN

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—_Eg-= =
—HA—HZE NA—HZE
—E=-= —E=-=
+=ZA=+—H +ZH=+—H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
(Loss)/profit before tax BB AT (E18), % 7 (27.266,077) 7,527,984
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% B E165%HE (4,498,903) 1,242,117
Effect of different tax rates TRBERMESEZN T E
for different countries (665,159) 612,868
Tax effect of income not taxable BESHRBARNTIE
for tax purpose — (1,980,993)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A=k
for tax purpose 2,010,606 104,357
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not AERGEFRIBEENEG
recognised - 4,600,199 167,797
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax AL A AERITIAEE
loss (888,894) (85,052)
Income tax expense Frisfif X 557,849 61,094
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ire MR MR ()

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD

1/1/2023 to

13. & MR (E#A) & F

1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E=-= —_EF-_—
—A—HB% NA—HBZE
—E_-= Ty = T 4E
+t=—A=+—-8B +=ZHA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
& T 7T
The Group'’s (loss)/profit for the year/period &% B & H#iA (E18), & F
is stated after charging the following: Ty &40 51 & 38 14 51| BR
Auditor’s remuneration % 25 6 BN & 750,000 720,000
Cost of equipment and spare parts 2848 K B 1B AR 2,527,179 294,599
Share-based payment for consultation B R SBR[ R
services 562,400 —
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) ZEHMN(KTE14) 3,278,463 1,828,005
Other staff costs: H b {8 B A ¢
Salaries and other benefits o kHAMmEN 19,568,336 7,785,364
Retirement benefit schemes contributions B 4K #& A 51 & f 5% 1,499,901 770,048
Total staff costs B B K AN 48 58 24,346,700 10,383,417
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEWE - BEKKE
equipment B & 18 6,185,233 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WE K&K
equipment e 23,244,693 10,673,583
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESERE 4,209,634 1,874,617
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e I mRERNTE(E)

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 14. EE - THEAIRESH N
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHART M
The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief ENSEMNRNATES RITHE
executive of the Company are as follows: HWEMOT

Salariesand  Retirement

other and scheme
Fee benefits contributions Total
HiZH R BREHE
re & A B3 @5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B B BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the Board) BAEE(ESEER)
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (RZEZME—A+AEE) - 750,000 — 750,000
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BEERE
(Chief Executive Officer) (TH&E) — 1,595,654 18,000 1,613,654
Mr. Tam Chun Yu (resigned on EEFLEMWM-_ZE-_=F=A
31 March 2023) =t—H&1) - 163,350 4,500 167,850
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling (appointed on RHRUT(RZE_—F+—A
17 November 2022) +tBREZE) 120,000 - — 120,000
Independent non-executive directors B ¥ HTES
Mr. Ji Gui Bao REERHE 120,000 — — 120,000
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (redesigned as an ERBEEN-_ZT-_ME—A
executive Director and chairman on TABATERTEERER)
16 January 2024) 120,000 — — 120,000
Mr. Chen Yue (retired by rotation on BEEER-_E-_=€XA
20 June 2023) ZTRBERE) 56,219 - - 56,219
Ms. Jiang Yu E ZEBR T 120,000 — — 120,000
Mr. Li Xiao Hua (appointed on TEEELE(N-_BE-__F+—4
17 November 2022) THHEEZE) 120,000 - — 120,000
Mr. Jiang Peiyan (appointed on IEAEE(R-_Z-=F=A
31 March 2023) =t+—HEZT) 90,740 — — 90,740
Total for year ended BZ_%8-=-%+-A=1+-H
31 December 2023 EEEAG 746,959 2,509,004 22,500 3,278,463
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e BRI (E)

I Ny =i

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

EE TBRAIRESHMH
()

() EERITHRARFM @

14.

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

Salaries,
other  Retirement
allowance scheme
Fee and benefits contributions Total
e
Hin 2B Rk RAREHE
ik 1& Fl R Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the Board) EZl4%4 (EEF= X FE) — 439,726 — 439,726
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BERELE
(Chief Executive Officer) (FTH#ER) — 714,140 10,500 724,640
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEEFEE — 342,650 9,975 352,625
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling (appointed on  sR#¥ 7w+ (R =T ==
17 November 2022) T—H+EtREZE) 14,795 — — 14,795
Independent non-executive BUFHITES
directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao REBXE 70,356 — — 70,356
Mr. Cui Hai Bin EBERE 70,356 — — 70,356
Mr. Chen Yue (redesigned as an BREEE(RZZE-_NE—A
executive Director and chairman TARRAEARTEER
on 16 January 2024) B 70,356 — — 70,356
Ms. Jiang Yu E ZImzt 70,356 — — 70,356
Mr. Li Xiao Hua (appointed on TEELE (RN
17 November 2022) +—ATtBEZE) 14,795 — S 1Z%/95
Total for the seven-month BE-ZE--%+_H
period ended =t+t—HLttEAHEAG
31 December 2022 311,014 1,496,516 20,475 1,828,005
BENEEERDERAT —ZET-=FFR
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(%)

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (seven-month period ended 31

December 2022: Nil).

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (seven-month period ended 31

December 2022: Nil).

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year (seven-month period ended 31

December 2022: Nil).

During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services
(seven-month period ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the year (seven-month

period ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the period or at any time during the year (seven-

month period ended 31 December 2022: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ARE B IS E R MY RE (A8)

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 14. E5  THARKES M
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) & & ¥ M
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in REFBREE-_ZET-_=F+—_A4
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 include two —t+t—HUEFEMNRAZESH
directors (seven-month period ended 31 December 2022: MATEERZEE(HE_—F
three directors). The emoluments paid/payable to the five ¥+ -_A=+—HI1Itt@EA
highest paid individuals are as follows: HE: Z%%F) -2~/ ENR
ZERETMATHMES0T

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022

—_=2-= —E- =
—A—BZ%E NA—BZE

—E-=F —EF-—
+=—A=+—-8 +=-—A=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Salaries and other benefits e REME R 5,152,259 2,078,441
Retirement benefit schemes contributions & 78 F &1 21 4 3% 72,000 40,076
5,224,259 2,118,517
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 14. EF - THEBREEFHMH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEFM @)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e N ATEE :
1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—EBE-=F —=E-=
—RA—HZE NA—BZE
—E-= —_E_—
+=A=+-8 +=ZA=+-8
Number of Number of
employees employees
EE A BB A
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 3 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & T2
1,500,0007% JT 1 i
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T2
2,000,000/ T 1 T
5 5
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and seven-month BHE_ZEZ-—_=%+_-_HF=+—H
period ended 31 December 2022, no emoluments were paid TEERHE-_SE-—_—%+—H4
by the Group to any of the directors or other members of the =+—HItt+t@AAHE ~A&EH
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, upon MEAnTAMESESK AL S 50
joining the Group, leaving the Group or as compensation for ATHHEMKE S NENS - 1E
loss of office. ARSI EMARER  MARE
EHie HMAASENRBIER
B (E o
15. DIVIDENDS 15. KB
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company for AAFIBHE_—_ZE_=%F+_A=+—
the year ended 31 December 2023 (seven-month period ended 31 HIFrEEWES A =k K #BRTEM
December 2022:Nil). R (BEE=—FE -+ =-A=+—

B b E A &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

=
#ra B

16. ER(BR) BF

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share is

based on the following:

(Loss)/earnings

5 R R T ot ()

N

0% 2 A R 358 (85 18) /B R T 12 A
TR

(B#])BF

1/1/2023 to

1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E-=F —EF- -
—A—BRZE NA—HBE
—E-= —_EF-—
+=—A=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HKS HKS
BT T
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of calculating Ftat & &R E K (E18)
basic (loss)/profit per share # A E 8 (BB, &AH (17,882,091) 4,233,548
1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—_E2=-= —E=-=
—HA—HZE NA—BZE
—E-=F —_g-—
+=—A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Number of shares RGEE
Weighted average number of ordinary R EEREXR(EBR),/
shares for the purpose of calculating B mE TR
basic (loss)/earnings per share % 04 < 25 808,627,920 800,000,000
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share are present as the Company did Eis e s = o — H| e ElN e
not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year s =i —a2ame s — 4 — 5

ended 31 December 2023 and seven-month period ended 31

December 2022.

RENMREEROERATF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s R T e ()

17. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 17. FERER
The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have TRERNEEHAEEE & KK IET

non-controlling interests ("NCI”) material to the Group. The R rEzS ([FEIERRREZS D) B MY B A B /Y
summarised financial information represents amounts before inter- BE B BER KA T B

company eliminations. HIE) & & o
Name Shenzhen Xinhang
E2p 7=
Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC
FTELEEME MR H e
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI 77.1%
FIERERFENTEEEZ REEB DL
2023 2022
—E-= Se==
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 31 December: R+=-—A=+—8:
Non-current assets EREBEE 33,105,275 34,035,526
Current assets BN E 185,335,946 210,143,239
Current liabilities mEBAE (12,663,039) (22,923,311)
Net assets BEFE 205,778,182 221,255,454
Accumulated NCI REt R E 158,654,978 170,587,955
For the year/period ended BE+-—A=+—-HLt
31 December FEHB
Revenue U #5 2,479,432 19,465,721
(Loss)/profit (E518), & 7 (13,295,713) 4,060,795
Total comprehensive expenses i\ E 77 4858 (15,477,272) (1,900,724)
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI Z IR R (B518), S5 F (10,250,994) 3,130,873
Net cash (used in)/generated from i«‘ é.-é EE (TR, FTg
operating activities IS EEE (1,760,986) 12,878,680
Net cash generated from investing WEEBMBHRESFHE
activities 7,779 25,214
Net cash used in financing activities BB EST AR S FEE (12,888,986) (13,151,680)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 37 & &3 & S E¥R D FE (14,642,193) (247,786)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BRI (E)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - BERRE
Furniture
Visual display  and other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
REET BER
& HMRB "E HEXE st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
CosT B2
At 1 June 2022 RZE=-—FXA—H 213,806,156 1,483,485 1,247,247 1,645,167 218,182,055
Additions NE 3,313,781 46,174 — — 3,359,955
Exchange difference b 5 =58 (278,686) (2,239)  (104,922) (7,768) (393,615)

At 31 December 2022 and R=—E ==

1 January 2023 +-A=+—8k
—E-_=F—H—H 216,841,251 1,527,420 1,142,325 1,637,399 221,148,395
Additions NE 65,994,254 2,632 — 331,185 66,328,071
Disposals H e (6,237,808) — — — (6,237,808)
Exchange differences &N =% (167,895) (403) (22,826) (3,237) (194,361)
At 31 December 2023 NRZEBEZ=%F
+=-BA=+—H 276,429,802 1,529,649 1,119,499 1,965,347 281,044,297
ACCUMULATED RitiE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 June 2022 RZEBEZZ_F/,"A—H 145,788,346 1,402,162 1,154,781 1,607,308 149,952,597
Charge for the period HAYH 10,586,283 33,779 34,067 19,454 10,673,583
Exchange differences fEN =% (104,039) (2,246)  (104,923) (6,039) (217,247)
At 31 December 2022 and R=—ZE ==
1 January 2023 +TZA=+—8k
“E-=F—HA—H 156,270,590 1,433,695 1,083,925 1,620,723 160,408,933
Charge for the year FRZH 23,075,382 48,571 58,400 62,340 23,244,693
Disposals HE (52,575) — — — (52,575)
Exchange differences fEH =X (90,146) (403) (22,826) (19,572) (132,947)
At 31 December 2023 R-TE-—=%
+=-—B=+—H 179,203,251 1,481,863 1,119,499 1,663,491 183,468,104
CARRYING AMOUNT EEE{E
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F
== [ 97,226,551 47,786 — 301,856 97,576,193
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F
+—A=+—H 60,570,661 93,725 58,400 16,676 60,739,462
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19.

& B %5 R Y aE ()

(Continued)

GOODWILL 19. B8
Carrying amount AR E
HK$
BT
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 WZZT-_—f—HA—H ZE-_f
and 1 January 2023 TZA=t—RAKR=ZZE=-_=F5—H—H —
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 37(b)) Ue BE B B A &) T 2 A (B sE37(b)) 489,054
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-_A=+—HKNEEE 489,054
Impairment testing of goodwill BERENR
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at BREBAHNENTERNIKERD

acquisition, to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination.

EEHEARBUZEBAHTEanE
CELBU(REELEM]D -

The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows: HENETmESROT :
HK$
BT
Hotel reservation and convention planning service BIETER e 2R 7 489,054

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the basis
of their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross
margin and revenue during the period. The Group estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term average economic
growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of the
CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five
years with the residual period using the growth rate of 4%. The
rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s
hotel reservation and convention planning services activities is 20%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e R R MR (E)

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. FRHEEE
Disclosure of lease-related items: HERBBEBERENT
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
i n
—E-=F —_EFE-=
+=—A=+—-8 +=—A=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Right-of-use assets FREEE
— Premises — 10,296,866 3,713,422
— Office equipment /N 26,414 33,618
10,323,280 3,747,040
The maturity analysis, based on NEBHEREIREARIER
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s ReREELNEEHE S
lease liabilities is as follows: e :
— Less than 1 year —1FR 5,324,531 4,043,943
— Between 1 and 2 years — | ZE 24 4,336,868 423,175
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2 ZE 54 2,101,258 20,434
11,762,657 4,487,552
BREMFEBEROERAT —ZT=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

%\'/A_\‘/\EZTT%#&%M H£<lt>\>

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. EHEEE @
1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E-= =8B==
—HA—HZE NA—HBE
—E-= =We==
+=ZA=+—H +ZH=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Year/period ended: F K
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEERE
— Premises — Y E 4,202,430 1,872,217
— Office equipment —WREE 7,204 2,400
4,209,634 1,874,617
Lease interests HERD 257,641 129,953
Expenses related to short-term leases CHHEERBERAX 802,811 2,388,185
Cash outflow for leases HEHR& KD
— Payments for short-term leases in —BEREAMEREREN
respect of rental premises and REREEMR
equipment 802,811 2,388,185
— Payments of principal and interest —EEHEaEAE R
element of lease liabilities M B & 4,625,857 2,034,843
5,428,668 4,423,028
Additions to right-of-use assets NETCREEE 10,785,874 1,121,669
The Group leases various premises and office equipment. Rental AREBHESEYERBALE -
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Lease EAHNETEHRE —MRREIESF -
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide ERRREBLERE EREER
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do FTRGEZRIEE - BEBAMREHEE
not impose any covenants other than the rental deposits in the BEMHEEZSI HEMZTEH
leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets were not be MEMBRHE - HEBENESBERT
used as security for borrowing purposes. AR o
There are no extension and termination options included in the HEGATEBSERMKRIEEE
lease contracts. o

152 Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR MR ()

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 2. ESZRHEMERRIE A
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS NERES
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
R n
—E-=F —ZE=-=
+=A=+-8 +=ZA=+-8
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables 2 5 e WK IE 26,939,626 23,426,316
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful debts i : %ii,ﬂﬁﬁéﬁ (14,713,125) (11,453,365)
Trade receivables, net B 5 e WK IEF 5 12,226,501 11,973,451
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BERENTENNRIE 2,977,899 2,105,041
Deposits for equipment rental HELHRE 800,000 4,825,915
Prepayment and deposits BRI RIERIEZS 44,216,013 64,237,365
Other receivables (note a) H e We zk B (MY sta) 132,421,099 —
Receivables from newly acquired subsidiary’s [ Ui 3 Ui B8 B & A &) A A% 5
former shareholders (note b) KA (K sEDb) 7,331,554 122,840,590
199,973,066 205,982,362
Less: Non-current portion W IERENE D
Prepayments for purchase of BERERNRIE
equipment (2,977,899) (2,105,041)
Prepayments and rental deposits ENREEREERS — (333,135)
(2,977,899) (2,438,176)
Current portion mENED 196,995,167 203,544,186
Notes: B & -
(a) The amounts are mainly prepayments to IT services providers regarding the NFT (a) BEBRREIXrZEATHBENTEREEEA
virtual reality platform development. A IT B %5 721 78 4+F /O SR IE ©
(b) The receivables from newly acquired subsidiary’s former shareholders are fully (b) JE Uk 57 Ukt B AT BB A B A AR BE SRIE AL B AR
settled up to the date of this report. LHHEEEE-
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

21. ESRHMEWRE BN
RERRE @

(a) EZEWNKE

REBNEZGERZE - RER
ERRIRERBEZRIOKXDNER
HANRSKEE R =_=F
+-—A=Z=+—Bk=—ZT=_=
+=—A=+—H8 KEBERE
ZRHNAEZERRBERRKD

(a) Trade receivables

The Group's trade receivables are generally settled by cash on
delivery or credit period of 90 days after provision of services.
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the
Group's ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based
on invoice date is as follows:

W
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=E —ZE-=
+=ZA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HK$ HK$
7B T BT
0-30 days 0E 30K 11,100,929 2,961,716
31-60 days 31E260K 5,783,164 1,697,354
61-90 days 61290k 840,689 444,213
Over 90 days HBiBI0K 9,214,844 18,323,533
26,939,626 23,426,816

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed

regularly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

Movement on the provision for impairment of trade

AR WIS AR BT AT ()

2. EFREMEWRFE B
HER RS @

(a) 5 FEWRE @
B2 RBRBRERBENES N

receivables is as follows: T

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to
31/12/2023 31/12/2022

—E-=F —EF- -
—A—BEZE NA—BZE

—E-=F i
+=g=+-8 +=A=+-8
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of the year/period F 9] 11,453,365 9,614,247
Provision for impairment for the year/period 4 8 ;) i & £ & 3,259,760 1,839,118
At end of the year/period F 8K 14,713,125 11,453,365

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to REFERABTENBRELELSE

provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. In determining the
expected credit losses for trade receivables, the management
of the Group has taken into account the historical default
experience and the future prospect of the industries and/or
considering various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information, as appropriate, in estimating the
probability of default of each of the trade receivables
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon,
as well as the loss upon default in each case.

IRz BIL AT IRTBBEEE
B RBEESRERREBEERAE
e EIERE RETEIE
WHRIEWNBHEEBEER K&
EEEECZRRLENLRR
TEMNAS R/ AEEBRSEE
IK?%&%E/EUH’J%%@“%HFZQI\*BX
R(ER) LT SEEZE S E
WRIBEEERSBEBETGFHES
EEAZAN L REDNIE
%o
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(Continued)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 2. EGRHE ﬂﬂ@u& XIH - TN
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) - IE&}E@ (&
(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) EZEWRE@®E
Current 1-90 91-180 181-365
(not yet days days days > 1 year
due) pastdue past due past due past due Total
B (% B el B B
Z#) 1Z90H 91Z180H 181Z365H BiB1E st
At 31 December 2023 WMZ-ZT =%
+-B=+—8
Weighted average M9 TE
expected loss rate EiE =R 46% 43% 49% 63% 95%
Receivable amount (HK$) f& g 218
(BT 17,724,782 3,079,158 778,777 950,000 4,406,909 26,939,626
Loss allowance (HK$) ~ E5#B## (BT) 8,206,465 1,323,679 383,906 594,153 4,204,922 14,713,125
At 31 December 2022 RZZT__F
+=-B=+-—8
Weighted average kgL E
expected loss rate BREXR 54% 43% 16% 22% 97%
Receivable amount (HK$) JEUtZIB (B7C) 5,103,283 976,358 2,793,526 8,306,031 6,247,618 23,426,816
Loss allowance (HK$) B B#% 4 (BT) 2,742,505 419,720 438,735 1,796,472 6,055,933 11,453,365
(b) Other receivables, prepayments and deposits (b) Eft EUYFRIE - TE R T
kiEE

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly represent
rental and utility deposits and prepayments for insurance and
maintenance and also the prepayments to IT services provider
regarding NFT reality platform. The Company has not
provided for impairment loss because the status of the
subsequent settlement of the debtors is satisfactory. The
Company does not hold any collateral over balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
T A SRR (8)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. B REHMAEWFE - AN
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) RERZEE @
(c) Other receivables () HbpEWKIE

The other receivables are mainly advance to third parties.

The terms of the loan agreements were negotiated on an
arm’s length basis between the Group and the borrower,
having regard to the amount of the loan, the Group’s
business relationship with the borrower, the background of
the borrower and the potential benefits that may be brought
to the Group.

The borrowers are principally engaged in IT hardware business
in the PRC, which is capable of successfully bidding sizable IT
deals from multinational companies or PRC government
authorities. The Group advance the loan to the borrowers for
the purpose of providing the borrower with extra liquidity to
procure IT hardware in order to perform its IT deals. Under
the loan agreements, the borrowers shall endeavour to refer
the Group to its customers in those sizeable deals in respect
of IT technical consulting services which the Group can
provide. The borrower shall first engage the Group to provide
IT technical consulting services in respect of its existing and
future deals. Under such business cooperation arrangement,
the IT hardware will be procured and built up by the
borrowers, whereas the IT technical consulting services,
systemic upgrade and specific software development will be
rendered by the Group.

The directors of the Group are of the view that such loans/
advances have strengthen the business cooperation
relationship between the Group and the borrower in the IT
industry, which also helps the Group to gain the business
opportunities for potential future sizable deals bid by the
borrowers from multinational companies and/or PRC
governmental authorities. There have been successful cases of
referrals from the borrower since April 2023, which the
Group has been engaged to provide IT systemic upgrade for
PRC government authorities in Nanjing and Guangdong.

The advance from third parties are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Approximately HK$110,939,000 other receivables are settled
up to the date of this report.

HMERRBEERAFE =]
B o

5K h O MR AR T B AN SR [ B AR
TRAVHEBRETE  EFFR
EXeR AKEEMETNER
BE-BANSSARAERSR
SEHROEEM ©

&7 EZR P BN EBITEMF X
B AN BEEERQRRPE
BRFBEOARBITIRS - A&
BEtE s BNEREERBIRE
HEHIRDECBETEMN AR
TEHIRZ - REER B B
HARENZEARERZ TR
HEFHBASEAREHHNTR
MAEBRYE - BHAREZER
SERERERARARZZEMAT
Rffret RS - RIBEHBEXRHE
ERE - TREEKHEE T RER
B - mASHEAAREETR
M iE AR - BRI RN E
GREE S

AREBEERE ZSER B
SKAT A0SR AN & [ S 5 EITTT %
MEKEEBER RGBS
ELEEFARBRIEER AR K
SR B R E RSB E AR
SHERONEK BT =F
MALKR  EHAERMALREER
ETEN Bt AEEERE
AR B RN ERRTEEET
TEGFHR -

KEFE=ZTNBERREER %

BRARBEREER-

HEAREAH  EtEKRE
#9110,939,00078 JTL 2 455 ©
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(Continued)

e I mRERNTE(E)
22. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 22. BAFEFAHMZE KR
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME WEZKRE
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
by S
—E-=F ===
+=A=+—H +-A=+-—8H
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Included in non-current assets STAFERBEE
— Private equity investment —LERERE 32,218,715 33,512,821

23.

The above investments are intended to be held for the medium to long
term. Designation of these investments as equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of
the fair value changes of these investments to profit or loss.

PREPAYMENT FOR INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PiEERTERPFE - EEMHAE
EREBEATEFAHGZEKRNE
SR EABREERENQIFEZD
EHBENE -

23. BAFPEFAREMEEKE

MR ERBEENKIE

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

—E-=F —_EF-—
+=B=+t-8 +zZA=+-8
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Prepayment for acquisition 10% shares of
Shenzhen Evolution Equation Technology

Company Limited IE

UEE R Y T L H R
AR QT 10% B T8 15 8

44,140,366 =

On 23 May 2023, Guangzhou Yiciyuan Technology Company
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as the
purchaser) and Guangzhou Lingjing Smart Technology Company
Limited (as the vendor) entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire,
and the vendor has conditionally agreed to sell 10% of the registered
capital of Shenzhen Evolution Equation Technology Company Limited
at a consideration of RMB50,000,000 in cash. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2023. As at 31
December 2023, RMB40,000,000 has been pre-paid pursuant to the
sale and purchase agreement.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2023

RZE-_=Z=FAA_+=H'ARQF
ME2ERB R EMERTE K
ERARIERER) HEMEREE
BEERA ‘KﬁﬁaﬁdJIEE%
Z B BEFBAEKHREKREMSR
FHEBEERELSEFIME(LTRER
RERARI0%FMELR  BeRE
A A R #50,000,0007T © 51537 26
ARARBHAZZS_=FRAA=+=
BN AGE - BEZ_ZT=-=+=A
=+—H8" ' AR ®¥40,000,0007TE &
BEBEWZREN -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) A RELATED 24. FEUW(FEAS) BRBE 5 X IE
PARTIES
Amounts due from related parties disclosed pursuant to section RIEE B 2 a5 F 8 383(1)d) 1§ # &
383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Company Ordinance as follows: HFEUR AR 5 R IBIN T ¢

Maximum amount
outstanding during

the year ended As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2022
BE-—Z-= i A
t=ZA=t+—RIi —EZZ=HF —
FERIBESEE +=-BA=+—-H +ZA=+—8H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT T
ST MA LTD (Note a) STMALTD (Fif5Ea) 5,839,579 5,839,579 (35,756,788)
Next Vision Management  Next Vision Management N/A
Limited (Note b) Limited (K 5 b) TERA (1,537,237) (1,537,237)
Notes: Bt 2 -
(a) ST MA LTD is beneficially owned by Mr. Ma Lie as to 100%, who is a former (@) STMALTDH B3I % £ B 25 A 100% @ H
executive director of the Company. BRATRRITES -
(b) Next Vision Management Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting (b) Next Vision Management Limited g 45 & #£ 5t
Dennis as to 75%, who is the director of the Company. EEXMETS%  EAAARES -
() The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. © ERZEAEER 2CERAREN
Eig -
25. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 25. RITRBEHEER
Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITRESBESHETEZRN X %
deposit rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated CEEFRBEENE c AEFUARK
in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong Kong and the PRC. The A ENBRESLBESEBYIIERRNE
conversion of the RMB denominated balances into foreign HEREEIETRN  ARKIENLEE
currencies and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to NSNS L K [A) BB R BB AN BB ER B ST
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated REAREMBEKEL & HINEE
by the Government of the People’s Republic of China. HA B ER o
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160

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. EZENRE
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
i n
—E-=F —E-_F
+=—A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Trade payables Z 5 R RE 33,105 165,467

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on the

invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

NRBERE DT

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=F T
+t=A=+t—-8A +Z-A=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
31-60 days 31 E60K — 4,565
Over 90 days B 3#E90K 33,105 160,902
33,105 165,467
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 27. HtENREREFERE

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —EF-—F
+tZA=+—H +=ZH=+—H
HK$ HK$
7T BT
Payables for equipment purchases BB A% 5 FE S R 41,755,009 5,783,587
Equipment rental payable FEREEES 5,341,515 4,333,370
Other accruals and payables (note a)  E b & 5+ & /3 & & {+ 718 (Fff 5Fa) 13,379,439 8,900,089
Other borrowings (note b) EH & 5k (f 5Eb) 33,105,275 33,201,717
93,581,238 52,218,763
Notes: Bt 3
(a) the amount represents the Group'’s accrual salaries and bonus during the year. (a) BERFBEAEEFANESHFELRES -
(b)  the amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed repayment (b) FEZEAERE. 2o RERTER
terms. % o
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group’s R-E-_=F+—_A=+—HBE=
ageing analysis of the payables for equipment purchases based on &+ ZA=+—H'AKH %EA
invoice date is as follows: EEHHNEMNRERBREN KK
AT :
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —EF=-=
+=—A=+—8A +ZRA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0&30K 2,294,889 —
31-90 days 31290K 14,734,709 —
Over 90 days BEI0K 24,725,411 5,783,587
41,755,009 5,783,587
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BREE

HWSEENEERELT ¢

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28.

Disclosures of revenue-related items:

31 December 31 December 1 June
2023 2022 2022
—E-=F —Eg-= g
As at i +ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H ~NA—H
HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT I
Contract liabilities aHaE
(non-current liabilities) GER#HBEE) 882,800 900,800 944,000
Contract receivables A KW GRIR
(included in trade receivables) (5t A2 5 EUW X IH) 12,226,501 11,973,451 4,176,190
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
i n
—E-=F -
+=ZA=+—-H8H +=ZA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Transaction prices allocated to performance 124 /B K 2 Bt & 7K 32 X
obligations unsatisfied at end of yea/ BHETWFBHNIATEE
period and expected to be recognised as MR AW R 7 X HER
revenue in:
2024 —E_E — 316,800
— 2025 —E_hHEF 298,800 584,000
— 2026 —EZREF 584,000 —
882,800 900,800
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 28. EHEE @)
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year/period: FHANESHNEBENERED :
1 January 2023 1 June 2022
to 31 December  to 31 December
2023 2022
—E'=-= - —F
—H—HB% NA—BAZE
—E-=F ===
+=A=+—-B +ZH=t—H
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Increase due to operations in the year/period  4F /HA A B & 38 T 38 N 584,000 =
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue AHABEE AN S (602,000) (43,200)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer AN EBEBEEAEBRRKEEEKRE
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received (KR BB E) MAEZEE SR
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the EIERZEME-
customer.
As at 31 December 2023, contract liabilities amounted to R-_EBE-_=F+_A=+—H ' 44
HK$882,800 (31 December 2022: HK$900,800). The amount is BEA88280B T(ZE-_—_F+=
expected to be recognised as revenue within 3 years and the B =+—H :900,800/% T) - B @K
amount does not include variable consideration which is BEHERIERNEZ Ak BEHE
constrained. RIB T BEZR 68 A #K(E -
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29. BANK BORROWINGS AND OVERDRAFTS 29. MITERREX
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, bank borrowings and R —_=FEpR_T_-_—_%+—H1
overdrafts were repayable as follows: =t+—HB BEENRTERREX
m
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=HE —EF
+=—A=+—-8B +=-—A=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank borrowings, secured: RITER - FEM:
Balances repayable within one year BR—FNERRSERRE
classified as current liabilities BENES 1,713,352 3,653,132
Balances repayable after one year, with BR—FREE BEKREX
clause of repayable on demand BEBREDERRBAE
classified as current liabilities B 45 88 4,215,331 5,923,700
5,928,683 9,576,832
The above bank borrowings bear interests ranging from 3.50% to HE_E_=#+-_A=+—H81
7.69% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2023 (seven- FEE FPMETEREBEEN RN T
month period ended 31 December 2022: 3.38% to 6.63%). 350%57.69% (B2 — T - —F+—
A=+—HIEt@EAHM: 338%%
6.63%) T B °
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of current bank R-_E_=FF_FT_-__—_F+_A1
borrowings approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of =+ B HRBREETK BEH
discounting is not significant. FRTEFO AT EEHEE®mERS
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29. BANK BORROWINGS AND OVERDRAFTS 29. |RITERREX @0
(CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings R-E-—_=FER_=E_-_—&+—-H
based on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan =t+—H KNEBHFET %TJ,KQ\EAL/{T
agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand HREE(REEXR A& EE

clause were repayable as follows:

A BB AR B RERRRN
TE):

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

i n

—E_-= —E-4F

+=-ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+—H

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 1 year 1F R 1,713,352 3,653,132
Between 1 and 2 years 1&826F 1,564,461 1,717,780
Between 2 and 5 years 2E545 2,584,040 3,478,937
Over 5 years HBE5F 66,830 726,983
5,928,683 9,576,832

The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$ (31 December
2022: HK$).

The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 were secured by guarantees under the SME
Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMC Insurance Limited (“HKMCI"),
corporate guarantee and director’s personal guarantee.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its
borrowing facilities during the year/period ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

RENMREEROERATF

RITEFRNRBEL(ZFE__F+=-A
=t+—H:BRT)FE"

R—E_=F+_A=+—8BEk=
::¢+ Bl=p= 15 $EIME
TEAANEERZFRBRABRARSE
%ﬁﬁﬁmDmﬁ¢bmﬂ§%ﬁﬁ
EIRHMER RREREESEEA
ERIEEA

HE T ="K T - —"F+_H

ZS+-—BLEFE/E AEHEEE
ST {6 KA & Y B 2

—E=EER
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29. BANK BORROWINGS AND OVERDRAFTS
(CONTINUED)

Banking facilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total banking facilities of
HK$13,000,000 (31 December 2022: HK$13,000,000), of which
HK$5,928,683 (31 December 2022: HK$9,576,832) were utilised.
The Group's banking facilities were secured by the following:

(i)  as at 31 December 2023, the issue of guarantees under the
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMCI which is wholly
owned by the government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region to the extent of HK$10,000,000 (31
December 2022: HK$10,000,000); and

(i) as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, corporate
guarantee by the Company and the personal guarantee by a
director of the Company.
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29. BITERKREL @)

RITME
R—_TFE_=Z=F+_A=+—H' &K
& B AR 17T Bt & 4 %8 /413,000,000
Br(ZE2_—_F+_-_A=+—8:
13,000,0007% 7T )+ H 5,928,683 %
T ZF 2+ A=+—8:
9,576,832/ 8 L) EBA - AEE/IRTT
BbE LA TR B & T R IR

i)y WR-ZT—_=F+-—_B=+—8"
EREERBR(AEBRFIITR
BERFEZE#HSE)BES /DD E
& &R 5 & 3 i & % 10,000,000
BLT(ZEZZF+=RAR=+—
B : 10,000,000 7T) AU #ER + &

(i) RZBE-_=F+-_A=+—HXK
B —F+-HF=+—H &K
NERENAAEREARNAR —
FEEREANBAER-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as

e RN (8)

30. IEERIE

HIHE — R EDERE R A &R AR T
PIEMEERBENESHOT :

follows:
Provision for Right-of-use
Accelerated impairment assets and
tax of trade Tax lease
depreciation receivables losses liabilities Total
hnE B 5 W EREEE
RIEHE REERE BEAFE RHESEEE At
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2022 R-ZE-_—_F,-H—H 6,367,359  (1,159,112) (5,282,616) (65,647)  (140,016)
(Credited)/charged (5t A#B%),/B Bz M
to profit or loss (592,873) (297,290) 157,924 18,931 (713,308)
At 31 December R =T = —4F
2022 and T = A =higER
1 January 2023 —E-=F—H—H 5,774,486  (1,456,402) (5,124,692) (46,716)  (853,324)
Charged/(credited) & B335 /(5 A#B38)
to profit or loss 2,736,560 (560,181) (3,399,352) (29,936) (1,252,909)
At 31 December R Z=-ZT ==
2023 +=-A=+—H 8,511,046  (2,016,583) (8,524,044) (76,652) (2,106,233)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December
2023, the Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$6,224,526 (31 December 2022: HK$2,512,448)
in respect of accumulated tax losses of the PRC and Macau
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$25,607,531 (31
December 2022: HK$10,934,054) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. The tax losses of these PRC
subsidiaries is amounting to approximately HK$24,243,250 (31
December 2022: HK$9,233,551), will expire within 5 years, while
the tax losses of the Macau subsidiary is amounting to
approximately HK$ 1,364,281 (31 December 2022: HK$1,700,503),
do not have an expiry date.

ERB A RIBRKERNAEER
HERBHNENELT  FedE
HEEERREEMSHEE K=
E-=F+-A=+—HB A&EEL
PR B OB P K B A ) AT AS B LR
HARRERBHWAN R HIBEEIE
#925607 531 B T(ZEZZF + =
A =+ — H :10,934,05478 T ) ¥ R
IEFE R T & E #96,224,5268 L (&
T —F+=-A=+—H:2512,448%
L) ZEHREKBARMMIEEIE
49242432508 T(Z T = ZF + =
A=+—H :9,233,551%8 ) N4
WIEm - mRPIKEB QR EESE
4913642818 T(ZE--F+= A1
=+—H8 :1,700,503% jT) I & f@ 7w B
Hy o

REMEEERONOERLR —Z2-=F5FRK

167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s R T e ()

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&AE
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEMR HENRRE
As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F - —E-=E ST el
+ZB=t+—-B +ZA=+—-HB +ZBA=+t—-B +=ZH=+—H
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Within one year —FR 5,324,531 4,043,943 4,362,202 3,707,898
In the second to fifth years, S _-ZFERF
inclusive (REEEMSE) 6,438,126 443,609 6,144,707 309,508
11,762,657 4,487,552
Less: Future finance charges  J§i : KRB E X (1,255,748) (470,146)
Present value of lease liabilities #1 & & EIR A 10,506,909 4,017,406 10,506,909 4,017,406
Less: Amount due for 1218 A R B
settlement within WRLEENR
12 months (shown HERRE
under current BETHIR)
liabilities) (4,362,202) (3,707,898)

Amount due for settlement #1218 A 14 B Eivr

after 12 months BB RIE 6,144,707 309,508
At 31 December 2023, the average borrowing rate was 5.38% (31 RZEZ=F+= ﬂ +—H ' ¥5
December 2022: 5.5%). Interest rate are fixed at the contract dates EHF K AE538% (—E-—F+—_ A4
and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. =+—H :55%)  FMERELHBEHE

E o ASEREIERAFEMNERERE -
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. R
Number of
ordinary Share
shares capital
ERREE R 7
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SR EE.01E T T A
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R-_T_-_—%—A—H -
31 December 2023 T+ A=+—HEZE
SE=cEr= F=E—[F 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BERTRER:
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each SR HEE0.01E T H T E AR 800,000,000 8,000,000
As at 1 January 2022 and RZZEZ=ZF—A—HK
31 December 2022 —E-_—_#+-_H=+—H
Issue of Shares (Note a) BT (KYEa) 13,231,894 132,319
At 31 December 2023 R-—B-_=%t+-H=+—H 813,231,894 8,132,319
Notes: Bt 5
(a) On 8 May 2023, 13,157,894 subscription shares were allotted and issued to ST (a) R-_ZT—-_=47 A /)\H ' [ST MA Limited
MA Limited at the subscription price of HK$7.60 per Share. ST MA Limited is Bid 2% & 2 1713,157,894 B R B AX 10 - R 88
beneficially owned by Mr. Ma Lie as to 100%, who is the director of the B B 5 87.60% 7T o ST MA Limited 28 2
Company. RIESHREE100% EesES °
On 8 May 2023, 74,000 remuneration shares were allotted and issued to R—_ZTE-_=FRA/\H EKRAEESR
Rainbow Capital (HK) Limited at the subscription price of HK$7.60 per Share for 7.608 AR EERNER A B A2 RE&ETT
consultation services amounted to HK$562,400. 74,000 8% B € A% 10 - AR ERFE S AR 7% & T
562,400 7T ©
(b) The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able (b) AEBEEBEASEEBNEREEZRZ
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to owners through ERERETE HEAEBELEAEE
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy K B ABEAEAGERARR KNE
remains unchanged from prior period/year. HEERKE MK FEMRL #3F
T o
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes AEEMERNEERRE ﬁ i‘k( B 45 B
amount due to a related party, bank borrowings and overdraft as 24 % 29N #% BR B9 FE < B Bk 07 RRIB - 4R
disclosed in note 24 and 29, net of cash and cash equivalents and TEREEY  BEHR fﬁ ® &ﬁ% e
equity of the Group, comprising issued share capital and reserves. B EAEERE(BED BITRA
Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly &ﬁ%ﬁ) AEEEREETHRNER
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated with R BERERELAKAREELRE
the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure Eﬁ BER REEFRBETHRMG
through issue of new shares, raise of new borrowings or repayment EEMERIERRAERMEEHE
of existing borrowings. *E& BERERE-
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) AARKEE —BBRETE(ZA
which became effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants of 1) - Q_i +tERATABEE
the Scheme include the Group's directors and employees, etc. B ZrElME B2 HEREASH
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no options were EEREEE -BE_ZE_=%+=-A
granted (31 December 2022: nil). =t HIFE HERLERE(C

T__Ft+_HA=+—H:|\)-
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33. RESERVES 33. f#f&
(@) Group (a) =%
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEFENEESERESZEFH IR
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss HEBREEMZEKRER NG
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement SRR EFBRANEZTY -

of changes in equity.

(b) Company (b) &7
Retained
earnings/
Share Capital (accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
RBER,
BRE REREE (RHER) st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2022 RZZE-__F"HA—H 56,496,624 32,709,141 (50,743,644) 38,462,121
Profit and total comprehensive B X% ) & % U 25
income for the period FER-E] — — 3,361,689 3,361,689
At 31 December 2022 and RZ-ZZT -
1 January 2023 TZA=+T—AK
—E-_=F—fF—H 56,496,624 32,709,141 (47,381,955) 41,823,810
Issue of shares BT, 100,430,075 — — 100,430,075
Loss and total comprehensive & K& 18 & % M| & 18
loss for the year A s — —  (39,096,998) (39,096,998)
At 31 December 2023 NZTE=—=%F
+=-A=+—H 156,926,699 32,709,141 (86,478,953) 103,156,887
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and other key management of
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key management
for employee services is shown below:

ol

& B 5w M wE ()

3. BEE AR F
TEEEASTH

IEEE

BEEABBEAGENESRA

MEBREEAB -BLEERHME
HENEZEBEABFMIIRAT

1/1/2023 to 1/6/2022 to

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—E-Z=E ===
—A—HBZ NA—B=E
—EB-=F e — —
+=-—A=+—-H8B +=-—A=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits e HiEah RE T 6,747,913 2,558,374
Pension costs — contributions to defined k& B — A F fB 4 =%
contribution plans aH 3R 90,000 142,697
6,837,913 2,701,071

35. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by the employees up to the period end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses,
based on performance and taking into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

35. BERA

(i)

(i)

BEMREBRODBRAR =—T=

BEERZREM

BEEZEFROEINEER=E
ERER CHRBEHRHEER
BB AR IR E LG F R
BEFLEE -

BEEZANHERRERENRIK
R T THER
BEtE

AEBREXEREZEE THE
%5 B AN R B BUR 2 s M 2R e

RABRBEAX - NREBRA
BEEHNEEXAUTEMNMESE
HeE B R RERBE -

=FER
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35. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(iii) Pension obligation

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

35. EERF @)
(iii)) BIKEEE

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees.
These plans are generally funded through payments to
schemes established by governments or trustee administered
funds. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays contributions on mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee services in the
current and prior periods. The Group’s contributions to the
defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.

AEBEEZRE2EAMERY
A ERHEREFEMNE MG
8o EFE—REBBARNR
VHFESAZTAETENESH
FIERE SRR - EBHE K E
A—EEKREE AEERE
ZEtE BEBHIRE AAOXKE
REEMEBERHER - HZE
EREFRERHNEENRZF
BEXNERER MEEHHEE
ERBOBH - NEEREEE
AHEEREFELE-HHER K

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital contribution contracted for but not yet paid as at 31

& 7 B ARG B E AR
RELERHE -

36. EAKIE

R-ZB-_=%F+-_F=+—8 B3

December 2023 were as follows: HEMAZABREENT :
As at
31 December
2023
R-Z=—=f&
+=RA=+—-H
HK$
BT

Investment at fair value through other REAFEAAEMEZEKREMNEE

comprehensive income (note 23) (B 5E23) 11,035,092

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December

2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOW

(a)

(b)

4= A

=

B %5 R 2k B v (A8)

38. mMEBERERME

Change in liabilities arising from financing () METHFEEEENSE
activities E3)
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TREE/ R m’i E gt & &
arising from financing activities during the year/period. BIffTELBENE
Amount due
Other to related Lease Bank
borrowings parties liabilities  borrowings Total
EREHE
H At 8 3 o HESE BATEN @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 June 2022 R-ZE-_—F,:A—H — 4,331,226 4,805,973 11,513,753 20,650,952
Changes in cash flows Behrhes 4,189,804 32,962,799 (2,034,843) (2,175,181) 32,942,579
Non-cash changes: ML EE
— Additions —hE = = 598,964 = 598,964
— Acquisition on business  — ¥4 G UK E
combination 29,011,913 — 542,512 — 29,554,425
— Interest charged — M E% — — 129,953 238,260 368,213
— Exchange difference —ERES — — (25,153) — (25,153)
At 31 December 2022 and RZT==
1 January 2023 + ﬂ =t+-H8 &
33,201,717 37,294,025 4,017,406 9,576,832 84,089,980
Changes in cash flows Iﬁémi F) — (1,596,253) (4,625,857) (4,051,574)  (10,273,684)
Non-cash changes: FReEE:
— Additions —ARE — — 10,875,874 — 10,875,874
— Issue of shares —BTRHD —  (40,000,114) — —  (40,000,114)
— Interest charged —FBRHX — — 257,641 403,425 661,066
— Exchange difference —ERER (96,442) — (18,155) — (114,597)
At 31 December 2023 NZZEZ=%F
+-B=+—H 33,105,275 (4,302,342) 10,506,909 5,928,683 45,238,525

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 6 March 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of
90% issued share capital of Yeyato (Shenzhen) International
Travel Limited (¥ Y BRI BIBRIRITAHEBR AR (“Yeyato
Shenzhen”), which is principally engaged in (i) the provision
of hotel reservation and convention planning, by consideration
of RMB900,000 (approximately HK$926,763). As the Group
has control over the board of Yeyato (Shenzhen) International
Travel Limited, the financial results of Yeyato (Shenzhen)
International Travel Limited have been consolidated to the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 since 6 March

2023.

(b) WHREHE LD F

BEMREBRODBRAR =—T=

R-_TE_=F=ZA,H '  &x&E
B AR E AR #900,0007T (4
926,763/ 7t ) STE A W BB Y 5E
(i%ﬂll)ﬁfxﬁﬁ?ﬂiﬁliﬁﬂﬁ(rﬁ
Y BEFEY 0% BEITIA -
/‘ﬂi%?ﬁé%()kh@%%ﬁiJ&
CEAEEB - BHE_T-=F
+-A=+—BIEE ARk
EEEHE Y BECORID BERIKTT
MHERAFTMESE  HFYBEOR
) BB AR T 4B R A R) A B 75
¥EA T -_=—F=-A/AiH
AEELEAE AR

=FFER
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 8. MERERERKT @
OF CASH FLOW (CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued) (b) WEBHMI B A 7] (&)
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Yeyato FrUEE S Y B R BRI EE R
(Shenzhen) acquired as at its date of acquisition, which has BERAWNEEHEHONAFERAER
no significant difference from its carrying amount, is as mEYEEA=ZE HEBEWOT:
follows:
HK$
BT
Net assets acquired: Frii g )5 B EE
Prepayments, deposit and other receivables AR FRIE - RE R HE AR 90,078
Cash and bank balances WE LIBRTES 396,265
486,343
Less: non-controlling interests B IEERER (48,634)
437,709
Goodwill EES 489,054
Satisfied by: LA T3 5 A E A -
Cash e 926,763
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEEANBE SR AFE:
Cash consideration paid ENBEERE 926,763
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FIERESRIREEEY (396,265)
530,498
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOW (CONTINUED)

38. MEBRERERMT @

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

(b) WEHKIE 2R @)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Yeyato (Shenzhen)
is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
distribution of the Group’s products in the new markets and
the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination.

Yeyato (Shenzhen) contributed approximately HK$2,353,650
and HK$4,134,694 to the Group's revenue and loss
respectively for the period between the date of acquisition
and the end of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2023,
total Group revenue for the year would have been
HK$95,668,122, and loss for the year would have been
HK$30,184,232. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 January 2023, nor is intended to be a
projection of future results.

WEES VBRI ELENEHERE
AEBEMEFH TS D HOFEBR
FERNIRE N A R TEHR & B 75 2R A9 K
KA tp R 2K FE

FYBERINRNKWEBRERS
HARBEAAKRET KK m &
5 18 o Bl 492,353,650 T &
4,134,694 JT °

MR T _=F—A7—H
TN ASBEFRNBNEG A
95,668,122/ 7T+ M F A & 18 1§
£30,184,232 8 - HEZ A FH 2
HFEPEASE WIS ERBRKE
RZZEZ=F—A—HTKHNE
MTITAEEERES&HEHKE
R A S A8 - PN B TR ORI R 2R

==
4 o

REMEEERONOERLR —Z2-=F5FRK
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

39. A B B B # AR R &

COMPANY
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=F =8==
+=ZA=+—-R8A +=ZA=+-—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current assets IEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB KRG 285,187 —
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 2,787,958 —
Investments in a subsidiary N B AT HIEE 1,000,775 84,021,650
4,073,920 84,021,650
Current assets MENVEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8 A FRIE K H 4th E Y 5K IE 508,344 9,729
Amount due from a subsidiary A NG B 112,743,429 1,050,087
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEEBY 1,797,301 2,640,947
115,049,074 3,700,763
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HuENZBELRESEE 5,014,555 37,898,603
lease liabilities HEaRE 970,842 —
5,985,397 37,898,603
Net current assets/(liabilities) BEE/(AE) %A 109,063,677 (34,197,840)
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,848,391 —
1,848,391 —
Net assets BEEE 111,289,206 49,823,810
Capital and reserves BARRFEE
Share capital A% 72X 8,132,319 8,000,000
Reserves ERe 103,156,887 41,823,810
Total equity R 111,289,206 49,823,810
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40. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Place and date of
incorporation/ registration

and Issued and fully paid
Name operations share capital  Percentage of equity held asat  Principal activities
WAL/ EBR BETR
8 EEHRERAH MERE AUTHEMBEREANL TEEH
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-=E e et =
+=B=+-8 +ZA=t-8
% %
Direct subsidiaries
EEMELR
In Technical Productions (B.V.1)  The BVI, Us$100 100 100 Investment holding in Hong
Limited (“ITP (BVI)") 9 November 2016 Kong
In Technical Productions (B.V.l) EBELEHE 100% 7T REBEREER
Limited (1TP (BVI)J) —Z-R"ET-ANA
Indirect subsidiaries
k3] U
TP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of video display
10 March 2009 solution services for
concerts and events in
Hong Kong, Macau, the
PRC and Taiwan
ITP (HK) R 10,0007 7T REER M RERAE
“ZZNF=A+AH KBRS RABRER
BERBRADRRB
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural The PRC, RMB3,500,000 100 100 Provision of video display
Communication 4 July 2012 solution services for
(Shenzhen) Limited* concerts and events in the
PRC
R RE L E HE AR #3,500,0007C RAEREREE REBRME
CRINBR A * “Z--%tAMWmA REBTERANRRY
Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts  The PRC, RMB1,000,000 100 100 Provision of stage design and
Limited* 14 October 2014 equipment installation
services in the PRC
LEREREZEN HE AR #1,000,0007C EHRBEREZEARTRR
BRAR* —mE+A+THmA ZER%
Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng The PRC, RMB500,000 70 70 Import and export and
Technology Limited* 11 July 2013 wholesale of video
equipment and parts and
related support services in
the PRC
RYITHE R RER R HE - AR #500,0007C EREEEORBERER
BREAR ZT-=FtA+—H ERHBHAREBL
R 7%
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40. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 40. Bt A B @)

Place and date of
incorporation/ registration
and

Issued and fully paid

Name operations share capital ~ Percentage of equity held asat  Principal activities
MK/ ERR 2ETR
A EEHARAH BRBRA RAUTHHASESEEINE FEED
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—BC-=F —T-—F
+=ZA=+-8B +ZA=+—H
% %
InTechPro Macau Limited Macau, MOP500,000 100 100 Provision of video display
27 November 2017 solution services for
concerts and events in
Macau
ERERREM-ABRR R 500,000/% F9 % REFNZERE REHRHE
“EtF+-AZtt BEERERASRRSE
H
Shenzhen Xinhang Information ~ The PRC, RMB148,595,718 229 22.9 Information technology
Technology Company Limited* 11 June 2020 consulting service
RINTERE SR e AR 148,595,718 BERBRAARSE
BRDR i Ay =
Guangzhou Yichiyuan The PRC, RMB50,000,000 100 100  Information technology
Technology Limited® 11 July 2022 consulting service
BMERTREERRA  HE- AR #50,000,0007T B AR A RS
“Z-_f+A+-H
Anxu Technology Limited Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100 100  Information technology
25 May 2022 consulting service
RENRBERART EE 1,000,000 7T B AR A RS
ZZ-ZFHA=-tHA
Yeyato (Shenzhen) International  The PRC, RMB2,780,000 90 — Provision of hotel reservation
Travel Limited* 1 July 2005 and convention planning
BYBRCRIDBERKRTE & AR #2,780,0007C REPBERITREHAE
BERAS ke s Rl = R %
% The company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. 5 ZRARRRFEKIINEBEERE -
* The company is established as a limited liability company in the PRC. # AR ABRBBERKIHERSEAT -
Note: The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best Wi AR LR ETHRBATDLEE HE XA

effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as
they do not have official English names.

W HERXABDOAEARAERERERAK
BHBWEEHPXEHE-
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40. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 40. [t B 2 B u|)
Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in BREANEREAF)TEME LR
Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited BAEEAT(FEYEH]) 2 R50% 1%
("Shenzhen Xinhang”), Shenzhen Xinhang is treated as a subsidiary B BENAE B REAEHBERE
because the Group is able to control the relevant activities of Y| 22 f H b BR 51 AT 5T 3 AR BR 1 A T 4
Shenzhen Xinhang as a result of the shareholders’ agreement BlxEI S ES - FIEZH T
between the Group and other shareholders of Shenzhen Xinhang. N NGIDTE N

41. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL A, MEFREHBERE
STATEMENTS
These consolidated financial statements were approved and ZEEAMBEHREENR _E_ME=
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024. A+ tHEESgH EREET

% o
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Financial Summary

MBERE

RESULT E
For the
seven-month For the
period ended year ended
For the year ended 31 May 31 December 31 December
BE Bz
+=ZA=+—H +=ZA=t-AH
BEZLA=1t-HLEE ttEAHE HEE
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
—E-%TF —T--— —E-C-F —E-- —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHBT FHBT TERT
Revenue W& 44,715 12,349 20,347 40,238 95,668
Cost of services AR 7% A AR (42,001) (34,850) (31,835) (29,246) (69,103)
Gross profit/(loss) 8/ (E8) 2,714 (22,501) (11,488) 10,993 26,565
Profit/(loss) for the year & N F|,/(E518) (24,305) (35,078) (24,409) 7,467 (27,824)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at As at
As at 31 May 31 December 31 December
RERA=+—H Rt+t=-RA=+-H ®W+=-A=+-H
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
T T ZET_CF —E-CF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET TERT
Non-current assets EREEE 98,823 86,271 75,164 101,291 189,832
Current assets MEEE 31,245 14,826 12,293 226,104 214,863
Non-current liabilities ~ JEREIE & 6,699 3,851 2,783 1,210 7,028
Current liabilities mE AR 18,068 26,913 38,735 105,454 108,656
Net current assets/ RBEE/(BE)
(liabilities) ] 13,177 (12,087) (26,442) 120,649 106,206
Net assets BEFE 105,301 70,333 45,939 220,730 289,010

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PEREY IAEREECEAMBRR

—85 -
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